Applying data technologies to combat AMR: current status, challenges, and opportunities on the way forward

Leonid Chindelevitch^{a,1,*}, Elita Jauneikaite^{a,b,1,*}, Nicole E. Wheeler^c, Kasim Allel^d, Bede Yaw Ansiri-Asafoakaa^e, Wireko A. Awuah^f, Denis C. Bauer^{g,h}, Stephan Beiskenⁱ, Kara Fan^j, Gary Grant^k, Michael Graz^{l,m}, Yara Khalafⁿ,

Veranja Liyanapathirana^o, Carlos Montefusco-Pereira^p, Lawrence Mugisha^q, Atharv Naik^r, Sylvia Nanono^s, Anthony Nguyen^t, Timothy Rawson^{b,u}, Kessendri Reddy^v, Juliana M. Ruzante^w, Anneke Schmider^x, Roman Stocker^y, Leonhardt Unruh^a, Daniel Waruingi^z, Heather Graz^m, Maarten van Dongen^{aa}

^aMRC Centre for Global Infectious Disease Analysis, Imperial College London, Praed Street, London, W2 1NY, England, UK

^bNIHR HPRU in Healthcare Associated Infections and Antimicrobial Resistance,

Imperial College London Du Cane Road, London, W12 0NN, England, UK

^cInstitute of Microbiology and Infection, University of Birmingham, Edgbaston, Birmingham, B15 2TT, England, UK

^dDepartment of Disease Control, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street, London, WC1E7HT, England, UK

^eRoyal Caleb Pharmacy, 22 Pampaso Road, Kumasi, Ghana

^fSumy State University, 2 Rymskogo-Korsakova St., Sumy, 40007, Ukraine

^gCSIRO, Building 53, 11 Julius Ave, North Ryde, 2113, New South Wales, Australia

^hDepartments of Biomedical Sciences and Applied BioSciences, Macquarie University,

205B Culloden Rd, Sydney, 2109, New South Wales, Australia

ⁱAres Genetics GmbH, Karl-Farkas-Gasse 18, Vienna, 1030, Austria

^jWestview High School, 13500 Camino Del Sur, San Diego, 92129, CA, USA

^kSchool of Pharmacy and Medical Sciences, Gold Coast campus, Griffith University, Parklands Drive, Southport, 4222, Queensland, Australia

¹School of Law, University of Bristol, Wills Memorial Building, Queens Road, Clifton, Bristol, England, BS8 1RJ, UK

^mBiophys Ltd, 4 Four Ash Court, Usk, Monmouthshire, NP15 1BE, Wales, UK

ⁿDepartment of Epidemiology, High Institute of Public Health, Alexandria University, 165 El-Horreya Road, Bab Sharqi, 6W4G+7R, Alexandria, Equpt

^oDepartment of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Peradeniya, Galaha Road, Peradeniya, Kandy, 20400, Sri Lanka

*Corresponding authors

Email addresses: l.chindelevitch@imperial.ac.uk (Leonid Chindelevitch), e.jauneikaite@imperial.ac.uk (Elita Jauneikaite)

¹These authors contributed equally to this work.

^pBoehringer Ingelheim Pharma, Pharmaceutical Development Biologicals, 65,

Birkendorfer Strasse, Biberach an der Riss, 88400, Baden-Württemberg, Germany

^qDepartment of Wildlife and Aquatic Animal Resources (WAAR), College of Veterinary

Medicine, Animal Resources and Biosecurity (COVAB), Makerere University, P.O.Box 7062, Kampala, Uganda

^rDepartment of Bioengineering, Imperial College London, Exhibition Road, London, SW7 2AZ, England, UK

^sInfectious Diseases Institute, College of Health Sciences, Makerere University, University Road, Kampala, 22418, Uganda

^tThe Australian e-Health Research Centre, CSIRO, Level 7, Surgical Treatment and

Rehabilitation Service, 296 Herston Road, Herston, QLD 4029, Queensland, Australia ^uCentre for Antimicrobial Optimisation, Hammersmith Hospital, Imperial College

London, Du Cane Road, London, W12 ONN, England, UK

^vDivision of Medical Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Stellenbosch University/National Health Laboratory Service Tygerberg, Francie Van Zyl Avenue, Parow, 7500, Cape Town, South Africa

^wRTI International, 3040 East Cornwallis Road, Research Triangle Park, 27709-2194, NC. USA

^xChatham House Centre for Global Health, 10 St James's Square, SW1Y 4LE, London, England, UK

^yPhAST Diagnostics, 38 Wareham St., Fl. 2, Boston, 02118, MA, USA ^zStudents Against Superbugs Africa, Nairobi, Kenya

^{aa}AMR Insights, Keizersgracht 482, Amsterdam, 1017 EG, Noord-Holland, Netherlands

Abstract

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR) is a growing public health threat, estimated to cause over 10 million deaths per year and cost the global economy 100 trillion USD by 2050 under status quo projections. These losses would mainly result from an increase in the morbidity and mortality from treatment failure, AMR infections during medical procedures, and a loss of quality of life attributed to AMR. Numerous interventions have been proposed to control the development of AMR and mitigate the risks posed by its spread.

This paper reviews key aspects of bacterial AMR management and control which make essential use of data technologies such as artificial intelligence, machine learning, and mathematical and statistical modelling, fields that have seen rapid developments in this century. Although data technologies have become an integral part of biomedical research, their impact on AMR management has remained modest. We outline the use of data technologies to combat AMR, detailing recent advancements in four complementary categories: surveillance, prevention, diagnosis, and treatment. We provide an overview on current AMR control approaches using data technologies within biomedical research, clinical practice, and in the "One Health" context. We discuss the potential impact and challenges wider implementation of data technologies is facing in high-income as well as in low- and middle-income countries, and recommend concrete actions needed to allow these technologies to be more readily integrated within the healthcare and public health sectors.

Keywords: antimicrobial resistance, data technology, AI, ML, public health

The future of AMR control

Let us start by imagining what the future of treating and preventing infections caused by AMR could look like.

You get up in the morning; your watch uses its smart sensors to measure your temperature, pulse and heart rate, and monitors your health through its built-in microfluidic device. When a possible infection is suspected due to an increased body temperature and the fact that you got up several times during the night, an alert comes up on your phone prompting you to provide a urine sample that you put in a previously distributed electronically labelled tube, which gets collected by a dedicated drone.

By the time you arrive to work, your phone has sent you a confirmation that you have a bacterial infection, so you are allowed to come in, but that it is a Gram-negative bacterium from a urinary tract infection and you need to start a course of antibiotic treatment as soon as possible once it is identified.

Before lunch break you get another alert informing you that the bacterium is $E. \ coli$ and fortunately, it is a strain susceptible to trimethoprim, which your family doctor prescribes you. At lunchtime your pharmacist has the tablets discreetly delivered to you via drone, with an electronic certificate ensuring they are genuine. You start a course of treatment immediately after lunch, and your family doctor gets informed via a confidential, encrypted application on your phone. You complete the treatment; a follow-up test confirms you cleared the infection and your health is back to normal. Your information gets automatically and anonymously added to a database tracking the geographically located prevalence and incidence of AMR; thanks to the whole-genome sequencing of your strain, public health authorities link it to an ongoing outbreak and track its transmission routes, which leads to a community-based information campaign that helps to stop the outbreak.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction	5
	1.1	Overview of the challenges of AMR	5
	1.2	Overview of data and sequencing technologies	9
	1.3	Previous work and our contribution	11
2	Sur	veillance	12
	2.1	Tracking antimicrobial prescribing and resistance trends	13
	2.2	Defining and tracking AMR bacteria and genetic AMR variants	14
	2.3	AMR trend prediction and intervention models	15
3	Pre	vention	16
	3.1	Infection prevention and control (IPC) measures	16
	3.2	Effective design and delivery of vaccines to combat AMR	16
	3.3	Identifying populations at highest risk for AMR infections $\ .$.	17
4	Dia	gnosis	18
	4.1	Current status of data technologies in AMR diagnosis	18
	4.2	Challenges for data technologies in AMR diagnosis $\ \ldots \ \ldots$	20
5	Tre	atment	22
	5.1	New antimicrobials	22
	5.2	Combination therapies	23
	5.3	Antimicrobial peptides and other alternative approaches	24
	5.4	Treatment adherence and monitoring	25
6	Rec	commendations for using data technologies against AMR	25
	6.1	Data collection	25
	6.2	Data privacy considerations	26
	6.3	Data technology development	28
	6.4	Data technology dissemination	29

1. Introduction

1.1. Overview of the challenges of AMR

Antimicrobial resistance (AMR), an ability of bacteria to escape the action of antimicrobial treatment, has become a major public health problem, projected to cause over 10 million human deaths annually by 2050 [1]. A comprehensive systematic study estimated that globally AMR was associated with 4.95 million deaths, including the direct contribution to 1.27 million deaths, in 2019 [2]. This problem will likely be exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic that swept the world and resulted in sudden and inconsistent changes in antimicrobial prescription and stewardship practices globally [3].

The World Health Organisation (WHO) and the US Center for Disease Control (CDC) have both compiled a list of clinically important bacterial pathogens that require urgent actions to address their high levels of antibiotic resistance and global spread [4, 5]. In addition, a priority list was compiled by the WHO for India last year [6]. The three pathogen categories specified by the WHO are critical, high and medium priority groups, with a separate mention for multidrug resistant (MDR) and extensively drug resistant (XDR) *M. tuberculosis*; the CDC subdivides the pathogens into urgent, serious, and concerning threats, and places additional ones on a Watch List.

Many of the pathogens on the combined list (Table 1) are able to infect both humans and animals. Reducing the prevalence of those pathogens in animals, food, and the environment can reduce human exposure and reduce infections that will need to be treated. Antimicrobials are used in animals and food production to treat and prevent disease, and sometimes as growth promoters. However, this use of antimicrobials contributes to the development of AMR in both pathogenic and commensal bacteria that can spread from the environment via food, water and soil (Figure 1). This highlights the need for unified AMR policies set out in One Health terms.

Bacterial species of concern	Characteristic	WHO Priority level	CDC Threat level	India Priority level
$My cobacterium \ tuberculos is$	Drug-resistant	Separate category	Serious	N/A

Acinetobacter	Carbapenem- resistant	Critical	Urgent	<u>a</u>
baumannii	Colistin-resistant	N/A	N/A	Critical
Pseudomonas	Carbapenem- resistant	Critical	N/A	Critical
aeruginosa	Colistin-resistant	N/A		
act agriceea	Multidrug- resistant		Serious	N/A
K lebsiell a	Carbapenem- resistant	Critical	Urgent	Critical
pneumoniae	ESBL-producing		Serious	N/A
Escherichia coli	Tigecycline- resistant	N/A	N/A	Critical
	Colistin-resistant			
Enterobacter spp.	Carbapenem- resistant	Critical	Urgent	N/A
	ESBL-producing		N/A	
Serratia spp. Proteus spp. Providencia spp.	Carbapenem- resistant	Critical	N/A	N/A
Providencia spp. Morganella spp.	ESBL-producing			
Entenconce ann	Vancomycin- resistant	High $(E.$ Serious $(E.$ faecium)faecium)		II: ah
$Enterococcus\ spp.$	Linezolid- resistant	N/A	N/A	High
	Daptomycin non-susceptible			
	Methicillin- resistant	High	Serious	
$Staphylococcus \ aureus$	Vancomycin- intermediate and resistant		N/A	High

	Linezolid- resistant	N/A			
	Daptomycin non-susceptible				
$Staphylococcus, \\ coagulase-negative$	Vancomycin- resistant	N/A	N/A	Medium	
couguitate negatite	Linezolid- resistant				
Campylobacter	Fluoroquinolone- resistant	High	Serious	N/A	
	Macrolide- resistant	N/A			
	Fluoroquinolone- resistant	High		N/A	
Salmonella spp.	3rd generation Cephalosporin- resistant	N/A	Concerning	High	
	Azithromycin- resistant	,			
	Carbapenem- resistant				
Helicobacter pylori	Clarithromycin- resistant	High	N/A	N/A	
Neisseria gonorrhoeae	3rd generation Cephalosporin- resistant	High	Urgent	N/A	
	Fluoroquinolone- resistant				
	Resistant to other drugs	N/A			
Neisseria meningitidis	Fluoroquinolone- non-susceptible	N/A	N/A	Medium	

	Third generation cephalosporin- non-susceptible			
	Penicillin-non- susceptible	Medium		N/A
Streptococcus pneumoniae	Cephalosporin- resistant		Serious	Medium
	Fluoroquinolone- resistant	N/A		meann
	Linezolid- resistant			
	Resistant to other drugs			N/A
Haemophilus influenzae	Ampicillin- resistant	Medium		N/A
	Third generation cephalosporin- non-susceptible	N/A	- N/A	Medium
	Carbapenem- non-susceptible			
	Fluoroquinolone- resistant	Medium	Serious	N/A
Shigella spp.	Macrolide- resistant	NT / A		
	Third generation cephalosporin- resistant	N/A	N/A	Medium
	Azithromycin			
Clostridioides difficile	Drug-resistant	N/A	Urgent	N/A
Group A Streptococcus	Erythromycin- resistant	N/A	Concerning	N/A
Group B Streptococcus	Clindamycin- resistant	N/A	Concerning	N/A

Mycoplasma genitalium	Drug-resistant	N/A	Watch List	N/A
Bordetella pertussis	Drug-resistant	N/A	Watch List	N/A

Table 1: Annotated list of bacterial pathogens according to WHO and Indian priority and CDC threat levels; a line between two drug classes means the bacteria must be resistant to both for the WHO classification, but either one for the other classifications. Pathogens in bold can also infect animals.

In recent decades, a number of initiatives have been established globally to support national and international actions to be taken against AMR by individual countries and beyond [8, 9]. One such initiative is the Global Antimicrobial Resistance and Use Surveillance System (GLASS) [10], which aims to allow standardisation of data collection, analysis, interpretation, and sharing, and encourages comprehensive surveillance on AMR through the collection of epidemiological, clinical, and population-level data. At present, multiple databases collect information on specific aspects of AMR, and in combination, inform surveillance, policy and research on AMR, primarily at the national level. The use of data technologies has the potential for an integrative analysis and interpretation of this data to better inform AMR control measures globally.

1.2. Overview of data and sequencing technologies

In the last few decades, data technologies such as artificial intelligence and machine learning have advanced greatly and are more commonly used as part of biomedical and healthcare research. However, they still have not made a significant impact on AMR research or been integrated in routine clinical practice. With the increasing availability of large-scale and detailed datasets and ongoing efforts to standardize and harmonize information on AMR, data technologies will become an essential part of any analysis.

The main categories of data technologies are artificial intelligence, machine learning, and mathematical and statistical modelling. We define them below.

Artificial intelligence (AI) is a broad term describing computational systems that attempt to accomplish specific or general tasks using algorithms. When



Figure 1: Overview of interactions between different spheres facilitating antimicrobial resistance dissemination. Figure adapted from the WHO Global Action Plan on AMR [7].

these algorithms include the ability to infer patterns directly from data, without these patterns being explicitly specified, such systems are typically described as machine learning (ML), a term that also subsumes deep learning. Machine learning may be used, for instance, to use large datasets to learn patterns that endow a pathogen with antimicrobial resistance, or a small molecule with antimicrobial properties.

On the other hand, mathematical and statistical modelling efforts typically rely more heavily on the knowledge of one or more human experts to narrow down the possible patterns to be learned. Such models may be used, for instance, to predict the spread of an infection in the population or estimate the resulting morbidity, mortality and economic costs. However, both statistical modelling and ML follow closely related paradigms to extract meaningful patterns from datasets [11]. In parallel with data technologies, recent decades have seen an explosive growth in sequencing technologies, which has resulted in a rapid increase in the amount of sequencing data available. The use of next-generation sequencing (NGS) techniques, including whole-genome sequencing (WGS), is becoming more prevalent in AMR work, especially in surveillance and diagnostics. These techniques work by generating a large number of genome fragments, called reads, from each bacterial sample, which are then analysed to provide a detailed information about the underlying genome. Data technologies are then needed to turn these analyses into fast and accurate interpretation of the NGS data, such as the species and the resistancedetermining variants present in the sample, the evolutionary relatedness of the organisms, and their potential sources [12].

In this review we aim to synthesise available information on current usage of various data technologies in AMR research and discuss potential opportunities for further integration of these technologies in One Health research approach to combat the global AMR crisis.

1.3. Previous work and our contribution

Several other review papers have examined the role of AI and related data technologies in combating AMR [13, 14, 15]. Most of these typically focus on a single area such as surveillance via genotype-phenotype prediction [16], diagnosis [17], and antibiotic discovery [13], or explore AI applications in clinical decision support [18] and infection management [19]. Our key contribution is to cover all aspects of AMR as well as to provide specific recommendations for action that can address the challenges currently being faced by data technologies in supporting AMR control measures.

In this report, we summarise the current use of data technologies and discuss the potential for further integrated application of data technologies to combat AMR in each of the key areas of AMR research, as illustrated in Figure 2:

- Surveillance: tracking AMR trends, observing unusual or new AMR patterns and alerting in case of concerning events such as outbreaks and emergence of specific AMR bacterial clones.
- **Prevention**: interventions to prevent AMR infections, and stop the emergence and the spread of AMR.

- **Diagnosis**: detecting infections, the organisms causing them, and determining their AMR profiles (informative about suitable treatments).
- **Treatment**: optimizing treatment of infections to ensure a successful outcome, investigation of new treatment options, improving adherence.

We conclude it with a list of recommended actions to ensure the adoption and success of data technologies for combating AMR.



Figure 2: Conceptual overview of the paper's structure

2. Surveillance

Surveillance of AMR entails the systematic collection, aggregation, analysis, and timely dissemination of data on resistance patterns and antimicrobial prescribing and consumption. These types of surveillance systems are instrumental in developing evidence-based policies to control the spread of AMR and are essential to assess the impact of interventions to: (i) track antibiotic resistance and usage patterns over time and space; (ii) define and track genetic AMR variants and AMR bacteria; (iii) understand the relationship between antimicrobial use and the development of resistance; (iv) detect potential AMR outbreaks; and (v) attribute AMR to its source.

2.1. Tracking antimicrobial prescribing and resistance trends

A cornerstone of the effort to reduce AMR is the surveillance of local and national antibiotic consumption and resistance rates in humans, animals, food, and the environment. Such surveillance data is used to examine the relationship between the two trends, track the impact of interventions on antibiotic usage and resistance rates, and inform decision-making at the clinical and policy level.

There are several national antibiotic prescribing and resistance surveillance programs; a fairly comprehensive inventory was put together by Diallo *et al* [20], so we do not replicate it here. These surveillance programs employ independent strategies to collect data on AMR and antibiotic usage (AMU) rates, and rarely do so across the entire One Health spectrum. Furthermore, the reports sometimes become publicly available one or several years after data collection. The major strengths of such platforms and reports are that the data on antibiotic consumption and resistance is collected in a systematic manner, allowing direct comparison of data within the platform.

However, differences exist across platforms in terms of the scale of data collected, the standards followed to determine resistance status (CLSI [21], EUCAST [22], BSAC [23]), the source of the sample (blood, sputum, stool), the type of infection (bloodstream, upper respiratory, urinary tract infection), the antibiotics included in the antimicrobial susceptibility testing profiles, and the population within the scope of their data collection (hospitals, community, animals). To overcome some of the challenges posed by inconsistencies across different antibiotics and AMR platforms and monitor AMR at a global level, the WHO proposed a collaborative effort to standardize AMR surveillance, GLASS [10], that provides core protocols to ensure that the collected data will be valid and comparable across countries.

Integrated surveillance characterized by systematic collection of data across human, animal, food and environmental contexts allows for the development of effective AMR controls by recognizing the interconnected nature of AMR, varying evolutionary pressures and multiple exposure routes; see Figure 1. This has been recognized in the WHO's One Health approach to AMR [24, 25]. When available, AMU and AMR data collected across the One Health spectrum can be used to assess the public health impact of antimicrobials that are used in humans and in the agricultural sectors, and to understand the genetic mechanisms used by different organisms to develop resistance. Consistently collected data allows for both country-specific and cross-country analysis.

Once interventions are put in place to control AMR, there may be a delay until the impact of these measures can be quantified, but high-quality longitudinal multi-country surveillance data will be key in estimating the effects of interventions. However, such successful, long-term, well-managed surveillance systems require a long period of investment and institutional commitment at the local, regional, national and global level that must withstand changes in politics and leadership.

2.2. Defining and tracking AMR bacteria and genetic AMR variants

AMR is typically determined based on antimicrobial susceptibility testing (AST) whereby minimum inhibitory concentrations (MICs) are interpreted using clinical guidelines [21, 22], producing susceptible or resistant results. However, WGS techniques can also provide AST results, often referred to as WGS-AST, for instance by relying on one of the publicly available databases documenting known resistance mechanisms. A selection of such databases appears in Table 2.

Name	Host	Curation	Assembled genomes	Ref.
CARD/RGI	McMaster	1	×	[26]
AMRFinderPlus	NCBI	1	1	[27]
ARG-ANNOT	UMR CNRS	1	×	[28]
ResFinder	DTU	1	×	[29]
PATRIC	NIAID	1	✓	[30]
ARGMiner	Virginia Tech	Crowdsourced	×	[31]

Table 2: A selection of resistance determinant databases.

While AST is the most common approach to quantify AMR levels via the MIC, it does not explain the routes or mechanisms of AMR acquisition,

which WGS-AST can often provide information about. However, our limited knowledge of the genetic mechanisms of resistance and of their interaction within the same organism is an obstacle, and can be overcome to a degree by data technologies such as ML. In some bacterial species such as M. tuberculosis and S. aureus, WGS-AST is now as accurate as laboratory testing [32], while other species (e.g. P. aeruginosa) remain challenging [33].

Substantial effort has been invested in developing ML algorithms that improve WGS-AST using the presence or absence of specific genes, singlenucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), or genomic fragments known as K-mers. Other ML-based approaches include analysing conserved genes [34], matching isolates to their nearest genetic neighbor [35], or analysing genomic data in combination with gene expression data [36]. By following a training process described in more detail in the Diagnostics section, these algorithms can produce high-quality resistance predictions within a familiar collection of genomes, often meeting diagnostic standards [37], but may struggle to generalize to new isolates [38], especially isolates coming from underrepresented geographical settings or AMR mechanisms [16].

By incorporating WGS data, and measuring selective pressures such as AMU, surveillance programs can elucidate the routes of resistance evolution and transmission, allowing for a better design and evaluation of interventions. Understanding the drivers of AMR transmission, the role of international travel [39], and the degree of spillover of resistance between humans, animals, food and the environment [40, 41, 42] will assist in prioritising global efforts to reduce the threat of AMR to public health.

2.3. AMR trend prediction and intervention models

Having high-quality detailed longitudinal data on AMU as well as genetic characteristics of AMR pathogens across different regions would allow us to analyse and predict arising AMR trends to better understand associations between AMU and AMR pathogen strains and provide insight into where intervention measures could be taken. More studies are needed to demonstrate the added utility of these advanced data technologies and estimate the impact of proposed intervention measures. To date, the majority of mathematical models investigating AMR are concentrated on human infections [43]. However, there is a need to develop integrative models that capture the interactions between humans, animals, and the environment, as well as the effects of vaccination and other AMR interventions, as the insights from such models could lead to more informed policy decisions [44, 45].

3. Prevention

Preventing the emergence and spread of AMR can be achieved by reducing the number of infections that occur and changing the pressures for resistance to emerge and spread among infected humans and animals. Data science and advancement of AI and ML techniques have allowed analysis of largescale datasets to identify potential patterns and trends in the data, such as the emergence of carbapenem resistance [46] and the spread of cefiderocol resistance [47] in various pathogens.

3.1. Infection prevention and control (IPC) measures

IPC is a complex, multifactorial endeavour, which makes it challenging to evaluate key interventions. Routine collection and real-time analysis of data across individual institutions is vital if currently available antibiotics are to be safeguarded. In clinical settings, personal hygiene, especially hand hygiene is considered the most important IPC measure [48], but compliance with hand hygiene guidance can be low (around 40%) [49, 50] and has been identified as a key area in need of improvement to stop person-to-person transmission of AMR [51]. Technological advancements to monitor hand hygiene technique and compliance and prompt hand hygiene behaviours have been found effective in increasing compliance [52, 53]. IPC measures in healthcare settings also benefit from the rapid identification and characterisation of an infectious agent and its AMR profile, further discussed in the Diagnostics section.

Data technologies such as AI and ML are also being applied in food safety. By being able to more quickly detect outbreaks of food-borne diseases, and identify their source, public health officials can conduct recalls, alert consumers, and reduce the number of infections. WGS and ML also support food officials in identifying pathogen reservoirs, determining high-risk foods, and targeting interventions to prevent future infectious outbreaks [54].

3.2. Effective design and delivery of vaccines to combat AMR

Vaccination is now considered a key part of the AMR strategy in many national action plans [55]. Vaccines help by preventing bacterial infections,

thereby lessening antibiotic consumption, averting AMR infections, and reducing AMR levels in bacterial populations [56]. The same is true in the animal sector, where vaccines are widely use to prevent inflections and can also be used to reduce the prevalence of certain zoonotic pathogens, such as *Salmonella* [57]. While investment in antibiotic development is decreasing, investment and innovation in vaccine technologies are on the rise [58, 59].

Designing an effective vaccination campaign can be a challenge in poorly mapped locations [60]. This design process can benefit from data technologies, such as satellite images that help map a country's population density and determine where vaccines need to be delivered. Thus, a partnership between Meta and the Red Cross used ML on billions of images to identify the best places to administer vaccines in Malawi in 2019 [61]. Tracking the general population's uptake and acceptance of the vaccines (e.g. via medical records) can provide information on how messaging needs to change to appeal to the population.

3.3. Identifying populations at highest risk for AMR infections

Different pathogenic bacterial strains may pose different risks of causing severe infections in patients, depending on patient risk factors, antibiotic treatment regime and the virulence of the pathogen. Two main approaches are currently being explored for better stratifying patients by their individual risk profiles: analysis of bacterial phenotypic and/or genetic characteristics to predict outcome of infections, and analysis of patient's clinical data, solely or in combination with bacterial characteristics.

Studies have reported bacterial genetic markers associated with pathogenicity and virulence for major families of pathogens [62, 63, 64]. However, phenotype and genotype data from the pathogen, as well as clinical information, are needed for these analyses. These can cause challenges not only based on which data gets routinely collected, but also the volume of data needed to make accurate predictions to identify most vulnerable and at high-risk patients. ML algorithms have also been applied to patients' electronic healthcare records to predict the individualised likelihood of patients developing sepsis [65], outcomes form bloodstream infections [66], healthcare-associated infections [67] and *C. difficile* infections [68], as well as detect ongoing outbreaks and save costs [69]. Preventing additional AMR from emerging and spreading is key to ensuring other interventions continue to be successful after they are delivered. We have described some strategies for achieving this; other key factors are timely, accurate diagnosis and treatment of AMR infections, which we turn to next.

4. Diagnosis

The misuse of broad-spectrum antibiotics, which can kill multiple types of bacteria, is one of the primary causes of AMR [70]. It is critical to use the right antibiotic at the right time to keep antibiotics that can treat drug-resistant infections viable. However, front-line practitioners must start antibiotic therapy right away if a patient presents a risk of serious infection such as bacteraemia (bloodstream infection), which may lead to sepsis [71]. Selecting the initial antibiotic is crucial, and is done with a limited capacity to foresee AMR, resulting in the overuse of broad-spectrum antibiotics [70].

A key reason for the use of broad-spectrum antibiotics is the lack of rapid point-of-care (PoC) diagnostic tests [1, Rapid Diagnostics Chapter]. Traditional diagnostic approaches rely on a central laboratory to carry out microbiological, molecular biological, or serological techniques [72]. As an alternative, AI-based algorithms can often analyze the patient's clinical, demographic and electronic health record (EHR) data on the spot [17]. They may identify a bacterial infection by its characteristic patterns, look for validated human biomarkers, or use a patient's EHR and clinical symptoms to assess their risk of a bacterial infection. This process can support the clinician's diagnosis and treatment decisions and facilitate the prescription of more targeted antibiotics [73].

4.1. Current status of data technologies in AMR diagnosis

ML-based clinical decision support systems can leverage a patient's electronic health record to assess their individual risk of a resistant infection and recommend the narrowest-spectrum antibiotic likely to successfully treat the infection [15]. A number of trials have tested simple rule-based clinical decision support systems that do not employ ML [74]. Some ML-based systems have shown clear potential to reduce over-prescribing of broadspectrum antibiotics in prospective trials [75, 76], while others have yet to progress to such trials [77, 78].



Figure 3: Schematic diagram of a typical ML approach for pathogen identification and susceptibility determination.

In 2020, 222 AI-based medical devices were registered in the USA [79], and 64 of them were FDA-approved [80]; in the EU, where approval of medical devices is more decentralised [81], 240 AI-based approved medical devices were approved [79]. Most of these devices are used for diagnostic purposes, but only 4 of them target microbiology - 2 approved both in the USA and Europe (one for sepsis and one for automated plate reading) and 2 only in the USA (one for sepsis and one for syphilis) [79]. Most AI algorithms used for diagnostics are based on pattern recognition [80, 79]. These algorithms can process large volumes of data in a short time, detect subtle patterns in this data, and facilitate detection of disease, including infectious disease [17].

Broadly speaking, AI approaches for the diagnosis of an infection (Dx), the identification of an infecting organism (Id), and the determination of its AST profile can be categorized into two groups: those that involve genome sequencing, reviewed in [82, 83] and discussed briefly in the Surveillance section, and those that do not, reviewed in [84, 85, 86]. They are summarised in Table 3.

4.2. Challenges for data technologies in AMR diagnosis

As illustrated in Figure 3, the development of the diagnostic tool requires two components. First, a sufficiently large collection of existing examples of input data (data available at point-of-use, typically, genomic data, a biological or biochemical screen, and/or EHRs) and outcome data (Dx, Id or AST) needs to be collected. This database serves as the training data for the AI algorithm to learn diagnosis-, organism-, or antibiotic-specific patterns.

Second, the algorithm needs to be trained on this database to extract patterns sufficient to distinguish between outcomes of interest: bacterial infections vs non-bacterial (such as viral or fungal) infections or other diseases (Dx), possible infectious bacteria (Id), or susceptible and the resistant versions of an organism (AST). This training process involves tuning the model to optimise its accuracy, and validating it on previously unseen data.

Among the key challenges faced by all of these approaches is the requirement to assemble a sufficiently large, representative, and diverse database to train the AI algorithm and to identify the optimal training methodology. While genomics-based approaches can benefit from a large number of publicly available sequences [87], these are not always accompanied by highquality AST profiles [37], while other technologies tend to require specific experimental data that may be kept proprietary for competitive reasons [88].

Data source or technique	Example tool [Ref.]	Dx	Id	AST	Availability
Metagenomics + mapping	Patho-Seq, Ripseq [89]	X	1	X	In development
Metagenomics + mapping	MIST [90]	X	1	X	Open source
Metagenomics + mapping	ThermoFisher Ion16S [91]	×	1	×	On the market
Nanopore + custom pipeline	Grumaz $et \ al \ [92]$	1	1	X	In development
Nanopore $+$ alignment	Schmidt $et \ al \ [93]$	X	1	1	In development
Nanopore + assembly	Taxt $et \ al \ [94]$	X	1	1	In development
Padlock probe detection	Mezger $et \ al \ [95]$	X	1	1	In development
PCR + high-resolution melt	Athamanolap $et \ al \ [96]$	X	1		In development
Random DNA probes	UMD [97]	X	1	X	In development

Transcriptomic signatures	Reyes <i>et al</i> [98]	1	×	X	In development
WGS + specialised probes	IDbyDNA Explify [99]	1	1	1	Research use
WGS + K-mer similarity	DayZero epiXact [100]	X	1	1	On the market
WGS + custom pipeline	Ares Genetics ARESiss [101]	x	~	1	On the market
	Non-genomic Approaches	5			
App + disk diffusion	Antibiogo [102]	X	X	1	Open source
Automated microscopy	Accelerate Pheno [103]	1	1	1	On the market
Clinical data $+$ EHR	TREAT [75]	1	1	X	On the market
Clinical data $+$ EHR	Navoy Sepsis [104]	1	X	X	In development
Clinical data + EHR	Lewin-Epstein $et \ al$ [105]	x	×	1	In development
Electrochemical profiles	MicroplateDx [106]	1	×	1	In development
Flow cytometry	FASTinov [107]	X	X	1	On the market
Flow cytometry	FAST [108]	X	×	1	Research use
Gas chromatography + volatile organic compounds	Imspex BreathSpec [109]	1	1	X	In development
Growth kinematics	QuickMIC [110]	X	X	1	In development
Growth plate assessment	Clever Culture APAS [111]	x	×	1	On the market
Impedance cytometry	iFAST [112]	X	×	1	In development
Leukocyte profiling	Coulter DxH800 [113]	1	X	X	On the market
MALDI-TOF mass spec	VITEK MS [114]	1	1	1	On the market
MALDI-TOF mass spec	Bruker Biotyper [115]	1	1	1	Research use
MALDI-TOF mass spec	DRIAMS [116]	X	×	1	In development
Metabolism + fluorescence	SNDA-AST [117]	X	×	1	In development
Microcalorimetry	Symcel calScreener [118]	×	×	1	On the market
Microtiter plate + LED array	AST Reader [119]	X	X	1	In development
Nanomotion	Resistell [85]	X	X	1	In development
Raman spectroscopy	Nostics [120]	1	1	X	In development
Single-cell phenotyping	PhAST [121]	1	1	1	In development

Table 3: Some diagnostic tools leveraging AI or ML.

5. Treatment

While prevention, surveillance and diagnosis have a critical role to play, the development of new treatments, including both traditional antimicrobial drugs and combinations as well as alternative approaches such as bacteriophages or other personalised therapies, continues to be the mainstay of infectious disease treatment. Furthermore, the use of data technologies to ensure treatment adherence may help address a contributor to AMR: the failure to complete a full course of antibiotic treatment, although some studies question its role in AMR [122].

5.1. New antimicrobials

To reduce the burden of AMR, immediate action needs to be taken to develop new antibiotics [123]. So far, most antibiotics have been discovered by exploring naturally occurring compounds, for example by screening soildwelling microbes for antibacterial chemicals [124]. Unfortunately, in the last four decades, few antibiotics and no new classes of antibiotics have been developed [125]. A 2017 estimate found that it would cost 1.5 billion US dollars to develop a new antibiotic, but that it would only generate 46 million US dollars in revenue, explaining the market dropouts [126]. Changes to the incentive structures have been suggested to encourage the development of antibiotics, with the UK now trying a subscription-based pricing model [127].

AI offers a different approach to the problem by trying to make the screening of candidate antibiotic molecules more efficient and less costly. Its uses in drug discovery more broadly are reviewed in [128, 129, 130] and in antibiotic discovery specifically, in [13, 131]. Algorithms can be helpful in several aspects of the process: they may help identify compounds with a desired mechanism of action or target (efficacy) [132], anticipate potential toxicity problems (safety) [133], and optimise their uptake by the human body (pharmacokinetics) [134].

An important step in using AI to discover new candidate antibiotics is to represent potential molecules in a machine-readable way, for instance by using tools from cheminformatics [128]. Once molecules are represented in this way, an algorithm can be trained to recognize if a molecule has antibiotic properties by comparing it to other antibiotics (positive examples) and non-antibiotics (negative examples). The vector representation can be created manually by providing a list of quantitative properties for each molecule (feature engineering) or learned automatically from a string or graph representation of the molecule, as done in deep learning [135].

A recent success of ML was the identification of a compound, halicin, that could inhibit the growth of a number of challenging bacteria, including C. difficile and pan-resistant A. baumannii [136]. An initial library of compounds tested for efficacy against E. coli was represented using a deep learning method and molecular properties. The trained model was applied to over 6000 previously tested drug candidates [137] to computationally identify those with high antibacterial efficacy and low toxicity. A different way of leveraging data technologies, specifically mathematical modelling, is demonstrated in prioritising the chemical derivatives of macrolide antibiotics [138]. Their common chemical structure was explored to derive a model of both the molecule in isolation as well as in a state of bound to the bacterial ribosome. This work led to the discovery of a compound with an easier synthetic route, a higher solubility and binding affinity to the ribosome, and over 50 times more potency against several priority resistant bacterial pathogens, including A. baumannii, P. aeruqinosa, and E. coli.

5.2. Combination therapies

Combination therapies, which involve the joint administration of two or more antibiotics [139], are another potential solution to reduce the development of AMR in the context of a limited drug discovery pipeline [140, 141]. The identification of suitable combination partners and prediction of combination effectiveness of existing drugs is a well-studied ML problem in other disease areas such as cancer [142, 143]. Predicting the effectiveness of antibiotic combinations currently relies on a number of parameters, including the intrinsic mutation rate of bacterial pathogens, the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic parameters of the agents under study [144, 145], and pharmacogenomic data suggesting risk factors for toxicity or drug interactions [146, 147]. The Antimicrobial Combination Network [148] is a database evaluating many of these parameters. A specific mathematical model developed to assess antibiotic combinations, DiaMOND [149], first quantifies all pairwise combinations of antibiotics, then assesses a small number of informative high-order combinations to characterise the landscape of possible combinations against M. tuberculosis. Another method [150] uses an optimisation algorithm to predict the optimal dosage of two antibiotics against carbapenem-resistant A. baumannii, validated in a hollow fiber model of infection [151]. Machine learning is the basis of several other approaches; CoSynE [152] is a workflow to learn a model of antibiotic interactions from chemical structure descriptors, while CARAMeL [153] learns these interactions by leveraging metabolic network models of E. coli and M. tuberculosis; both methods correctly predict many novel interactions.

5.3. Antimicrobial peptides and other alternative approaches

Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) are short chains of amino acids; they occur naturally as part of the immune system [154]. AMPs provide an alternative to antibiotics since they exhibit potent antibacterial and anti-biofilm activity by acting on multiple targets in the plasma membrane and intracellular components of pathogenic bacteria [155]. Computational tools, including ML and deep learning, play a significant role in AMP identification (in both prokaryotic and eukaryotic organisms) and design (*de novo*, i.e. from scratch) [156], although only a handful of cationic AMPs have so far been approved for clinical use by successful clinical trials [157].

The identification problem for AMPs includes efforts to identify biosynthetic gene clusters (BGCs) in archaea and bacteria as well as naturally occurring peptides in the mammalian proteome, an area of research often referred to as genome mining [158]. Several databases cataloguing existing AMPs support these efforts, of which the Antibiotics and Secondary Metabolites Analysis Shell (antiSMASH) [159] and the Database of Antimicrobial Activity and Structure of Peptides (DBAASP) [160] are prominent examples. Promising approaches include both methods using simple models or scoring functions [161] as well as deep learning models [162].

Concurrently with the development of many alternatives to antibiotics and AMPs, data technologies continue to play an important role in the prioritisation of promising candidates. In particular, ML approaches have shown promising results in predicting each of the following: the success or failure for a faecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) based on both donor and recipient microbiome profiles [163], the effectiveness of a bacteriophage cocktail based on a joint analysis of bacterial and bacteriophage omics information [164], the effect of nanoparticles against AMR bacteria alone [165] and in combination with existing antibiotics [166], and the effect of probiotics based on an individual's characteristics [167].

5.4. Treatment adherence and monitoring

Lack of adherence to antibiotic therapy leads to poor clinical outcomes and increased risk of treatment failure and AMR [168]. Smart medication adherence products (MAPs), defined as devices that provide real-time medication intake data that can be stored and analyzed automatically, may help alleviate this risk [169]. For instance, the MediSafe app has been shown to improve adherence to antibiotic treatment in adults with irritable bowel syndrome [170].

ML can additionally predict the likelihood that a patient would follow through on their prescribed course of antibiotics, thus helping to focus resources on the most at-risk patients; a recent study achieved an accuracy above 80% in identifying those patients who had less than 50% chance of purchasing a prescribed drug [171]. Lastly, automated alert systems based on an algorithm can notify clinicians about at-risk patients in a timely manner by a direct analysis of their EHR data; a digital sepsis alert was shown to increase timely administration of antibiotics, and reduce the risks of long hospital stay and death, in a London hospital [172].

6. Recommendations for using data technologies against AMR

The approaches to reducing the burden of AMR outlined in the previous sections not only rely on innovations in data technologies, but also effective implementation of such technologies and straight-forward integration within the current already existing systems. Here we outline key recommendations to ensure these strategies are implemented and are implemented effectively.

6.1. Data collection

Our first two recommendations focus on data collection practices; specifically, we recommend collecting AMR data with relevant metadata in standardised formats and making it machine-readable to facilitate analysis.

Recommendation 1: Collect and report AMR data together with rich metadata in a well-defined format.

Metadata, defined as "data that provides information about other data", is a key component of data collection efforts. For AMR surveillance data this can include the date, the location, and the source of reporting; for AMU data, the prescribing authority, the indication, and any relevant diagnostic tests carried out; for AMR diagnostics, the technology used to process the isolate (which also includes the sequencing platform in the case of WGS-based approaches), relevant laboratory conditions, and the agreement between replicates. The presence of relevant metadata, especially if it is in a clear and well-defined format, can facilitate the smooth integration of disparate data sources and help account for biases in the results.Of course such data collection still needs to ensure patient confidentiality (if data includes patient attributable data).

Recommendation 2: Ensure access to machine-readable data for relevant stakeholders (clinical teams, public health professionals and similar).

Some of the data relevant to AMR is found in formats that are poorly readable (e.g. scanned handwritten laboratory reports), inconsistently structured (e.g. electronic health records), or containing proprietary elements not easily processed by free software tools (e.g. surveillance reports using the PDF or some of the Microsoft Office suite formats). All of these present additional access barriers and data integration challenges, as much of the data processing time is spent on cleaning the data and harmonizing the formats [173], which might still result in those cleaned databases not being easily accessible. Despite advances in technologies such as optical character recognition (OCR) and natural language processing (NLP), a systematic analysis of AMR data is well-served by the use of machine-readable, open formats during the data collection and collation stage.

6.2. Data privacy considerations

Our next two recommendations focus on the tension between controlling AMR and respecting data privacy, especially in data collected from patients or owned by commercial entities (including animal agriculture and food production companies) with an interest in keeping it proprietary.

Recommendation 3: When possible, obtain consent for patient sample use in research.

Whenever the use of personal data in AMR control is considered, this must be done under the auspices of data protection and privacy laws. Irrespective of the national and international variations within privacy laws, such as the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) in Europe and the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) in the USA [174, 175], the primary purpose of these laws is to protect the privacy of the individual, including but not limited to their identity, personal characteristics and health status. As patient samples (e.g. blood or urine) may provide invaluable information on causative pathogen, AMR mechanisms, transmission, and treatment efficacy, but may still contain patient cells and DNA, it is desirable to obtain consent for their use for research purposes.

Recommendation 4: Use federated learning to analyse AMR data from multiple sources.

While many ML algorithms require large training datasets, privacy considerations may make data sharing a challenge. The WHO's GLASS initiative [10], as well as other programs (e.g. ATLAS [176]), are taking steps towards creating representative collections of pathogen isolates (both resistant and sensitive) for surveillance and diagnosis, but currently available collections remain small [16]. Federated learning is a paradigm in which multiple collaborators train a ML model, each on their own data, and send their model updates to a central trusted server to be aggregated into a consensus model [177]; this may help improve model accuracy without compromising privacy. Similarly, the discovery of new antimicrobials via ML requires exploring compound databases, many of which are proprietary to biopharmaceutical companies; federated learning may provide opportunities to share these databases without revealing sensitive proprietary information [178]. An alternative model, which has met with some success in other therapeutic areas, is an open platform for sharing chemical and biological screen information; a noteworthy effort along those lines is SPARK (Shared Platform for Antibiotic Research and Knowledge) by the Pew Trust [179].

6.3. Data technology development

Our next recommendations are concerned with the reliability of the models or conclusions arising from the data and provide two best practice suggestions derived from related fields.

Recommendation 5: When possible, use gold standard AMR data with a faithful representation of the underlying uncertainty to train predictive models and algorithms.

An algorithm can never produce an output of higher quality than that of its input data. The use of a gold standard counteracts the danger of low-quality input data by increasing the chance that the input data is free of errors (such as misdiagnosed cases); for clinical outcomes such as treatment success, this could be obtained from a consensus of experts [180]. The gold standard may have limited precision; for instance, the determination of an MIC by the common method of serial dilutions is accurate to within one dilution [181], so it can help for the representation of the results to reflect that uncertainty; for instance, representing the outcome as a range of 0.5 to 1 rather than a value of 1 can lead to more stable MIC prediction algorithms.

Recommendation 6: Validate ML algorithms on an independent or benchmark AMR dataset.

Even with a gold standard, concerns often arise with the presence of unwanted bias in the data; for instance, certain geographical regions, strain types, or AMR sources may be over- or under-represented. Although every reasonable effort must be put into quality control of the data, the best practice for establishing the validity of a predictive algorithm is to validate it on a dataset independent from the one used to develop it. If an independent dataset is not available, the best practice is to estimate the performance of the algorithm on previously unseen data by *cross-validation* [182]. This is a technique whereby the data is split into groups randomly, the algorithm learns from all the groups except one, and predicts on the remaining group. For AMR surveillance and diagnostics, some authors recommend using groups of closely related strains, not random groups, for more realistic estimates [183].

Benchmark datasets have been used in areas of ML such as image

classification [184], and natural language processing [185] to ensure a common standard against which all the algorithms' performance is measured. To the authors' knowledge, with the recent exception of Raphenya *et al* [186] there is no currently accepted benchmark dataset for any of the tasks related to AMR, such as the prediction of AMR incidence or AMR phenotypes, the identification of AMR mechanisms, or the estimation of a candidate molecule's antimicrobial properties. Such benchmark datasets would require effort and resources to curate, and inevitably suffer from limitations [187], but would serve as an invaluable resource for algorithm developers by allowing for consistent performance comparisons.

6.4. Data technology dissemination

Our final two recommendations focus on the use of the data technologies and ensuring their continued usefulness and relevance for AMR control efforts.

Recommendation 7: Design AMR data systems with semantic interoperability in mind.

Semantic interoperability is the ability of computer systems to exchange data with unambiguous, shared meaning [188]. Studies have shown that approaches rooted in semantic interoperability, such as the ones adopted by the WHO Collaborating Centre for Surveillance of Antimicrobial Resistance (WHONET) [189] and the Antimicrobial Resistance Trend Monitoring System (ARTEMIS) [190], increase the efficiency and reliability of online AMR monitoring systems. The harmonisation of systems reporting AMR predictions from genomic data is currently being undertaken by the Public Health Alliance for Genomic Epidemiology (PHA4GE) [191]. This recommendation complements our first recommendation on rich AMR metadata in a well-defined format.

Recommendation 8: Contribute to creating, curating and updating AMR databases.

Effective policies for the use of data technology against AMR should encourage academics, healthcare providers and industry participants to share their data. Curated public repositories of available data that are accessible to any interested party upon reasonable request are needed, not only for benchmarking purposes (Action 6), but also to lower the barrier to entry for new contributors. Currently available genome databases include those hosted by the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI), the European Molecular Biology Laboratory (EMBL), and the DNA Data Bank of Japan (DDBJ) [192], as well as pathogen-specific databases such as Pathosystems Resource Integration Center (PATRIC) [30] and the National Microbial Pathogen Data Resource (NMPDR) [193]. A unified interface for accessing these disparate genomic databases, like the GISAID database used for SARS-CoV-2 genomes [194], can be a helpful tool.

Similarly, isolate banks can be an invaluable resource for AMR diagnostics and drug developers. Currently available pathogen isolate banks include the FDA-CDC Antimicrobial Resistance Isolate Bank [195], the Culture Collection of the University of Gothenburg, Sweden [196], which collaborates with EUCAST [22], and the National Collection of Type Cultures [197] at the UK Health Security Agency. However, some of these may be biased towards historic rather than modern isolates, omit representatives of the most recently evolved resistance mechanisms, and require substantial resources for curation and maintenance. With the right incentives for contributors, a globally representative strain bank could be a preparedness solution for an AMR pandemic.

Conclusion

In this report we have provided an overview of current data technologies and their use to help reduce the burden of AMR globally. However, as some of these technologies are still mainly used for research purposes, there are steps needed to integrate these technologies in other areas, as explained in the Recommendations section. To progress towards a better integration and implementation of data technologies in different sectors to help track and prevent AMR, and allow a transparent, confident sharing of data or results between different platforms and institutions, investments are needed to ensure that core components of the foundation data systems, including surveillance systems, commercial and government data systems, population data systems and data from academic research, are properly set up in the respective institutions, ensuring that quality assurance and regular verifications are taking place. This together with the specified data collections will enable the judicious use of data technologies to control AMR. At the global level, technical standards for data technology and systems development are also imperative to ensuring that data technologies are effectively embedded and used within these systems. To this end, a global focus on data stewardship, exchange of data and greater technical guidance focused on the implementation of data technologies in low- and middle- as well as high-income settings is important. In addition, due to the global nature of the AMR control challenges, open sharing of the data fuelling and underlying the data technologies to the extent possible under the constraints of relevant commercial and intellectual property interests and privacy considerations should be a key policy focus.

Every country will have a different context and organisational model for implementing data technologies for AMR, and a "One Health" approach to foundation data systems will help identify how data technologies are best prioritised and invested in as assets within the system. A roadmap and business plan may assist policymakers to identify how data technologies can be implemented as part of their broader data systems [198]. As part of this systems approach, regular updating of the data and processing of feedback on how the data is being used will ensure that stakeholders are aware of the value of the use of data technologies to control AMR.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to acknowledge Dr Frances Davies for assistance with the clinical accuracy of the Future of AMR Control section and Vivien van Dongen for designing two visualisations for this report.

LC acknowledges funding from the MRC Centre for Global Infectious Disease Analysis (reference MR/R015600/1), jointly funded by the UK Medical Research Council (MRC) and the UK Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office (FCDO), under the MRC/FCDO Concordat agreement and is also part of the EDCTP2 programme supported by the European Union. EJ is an Imperial College Research Fellow jointly supported by the Rosetrees Trust and the Stoneygate Trust (M683) and is affiliated with the National Institute for Health Research Health Protection Research Unit (NIHR HPRU) in Healthcare Associated Infections and Antimicrobial Resistance at Imperial College London in partnership with the UK Health Security Agency (previously PHE), in collaboration with Imperial Healthcare Partners, University of Cambridge and University of Warwick.

The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NIHR, Public Health England, the Department of Health and Social Care, or other organisations the authors are affiliated with.

Author contributions

Conceptualisation of overall report and supervision of the working groups: LC, EJ, HG, MvD. Investigation, original draft writing and editing, by section: Surveillance - EJ, NW, ANg, JR; Prevention - EJ, NW, KA, BA, LM; Diagnostics - LC, DB, MG, YK, ANg, LU; Treatment - LC, WA, KF, CM, AN, KR; Recommended actions - VL, SN, AS, DW, MvD. Additional visualisation: KF. Writing of the overall original draft: LC, EJ, NW. Critical review of the final draft: SB, GG, TR, RS. All co-authors have read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Declaration of Interests

LC is a consultant with Pfizer and the Foundation for Innovative New Diagnostics. MG and HG are a co-owners of a consulting business in the life sciences. RS is a co-founder and Chief Scientific Officer of PhAST Diagnostics, an infectious diseases diagnostic company. VL has held an investigator-initiated grant through Pfizer. MvD is the director of AMR Insights BV, a globally active, network-based information provider on antimicrobial resistance. All other co-authors have nothing to declare.

List of abbreviations used

- AI artificial intelligence
- AMP antimicrobial peptide
- AMR antimicrobial resistance
- AMU antimicrobial use
- AST antimicrobial susceptibility testing
- IPC infection prevention and control
- MGE mobile genetic element
- MIC minimum inhibitory concentration
- ML machine learning
- NGS next-generation sequencing
- SNP single-nucleotide polymorphism
- WGS whole-genome sequencing

References

- J. O'Neill, Antimicrobial Resistance: Tackling a Crisis for the Health and Wealth of Nations, Review on Antimicrobial Resistance, 2014. URL https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=b1E0kAEACAAJ
- [2] C. J. Murray, K. S. Ikuta, F. Sharara, L. Swetschinski, G. R. Aguilar, A. Gray, C. Han, C. Bisignano, P. Rao, E. Wool, S. C. Johnson, A. J. Browne, M. G. Chipeta, F. Fell, S. Hackett, G. Haines-Woodhouse, B. H. K. Hamadani, E. A. P. Kumaran, B. McManigal, R. Agarwal, S. Akech, S. Albertson, J. Amuasi, J. Andrews, A. Aravkin, E. Ashley, F. Bailey, S. Baker, B. Basnyat, A. Bekker, R. Bender, A. Bethou, J. Bielicki, S. Boonkasidecha, J. Bukosia, C. Carvalheiro, C. Castañeda-Orjuela, V. Chansamouth, S. Chaurasia, S. Chiurchiù, F. Chowdhury, A. J. Cook, B. Cooper, T. R. Cressey, E. Criollo-Mora, M. Cunningham, S. Darboe, N. P. J. Day, M. D. Luca, K. Dokova, A. Dramowski, S. J. Dunachie, T. Eckmanns, D. Eibach, A. Emami, N. Feasey, N. Fisher-Pearson, K. Forrest, D. Garrett, P. Gastmeier, A. Z. Giref, R. C. Greer, V. Gupta, S. Haller, A. Haselbeck, S. I. Hay, M. Holm, S. Hopkins, K. C. Iregbu, J. Jacobs, D. Jarovsky, F. Javanmardi, M. Khorana, N. Kissoon, E. Kobeissi, T. Kostyanev, F. Krapp, R. Krumkamp, A. Kumar, H. H. Kyu, C. Lim, D. Limmathurotsakul, M. J. Loftus, M. Lunn, J. Ma, N. Mturi, T. Munera-Huertas, P. Musicha, M. M. Mussi-Pinhata, T. Nakamura, R. Nanavati, S. Nangia, P. Newton, C. Ngoun, A. Novotney, D. Nwakanma, C. W. Obiero, A. Olivas-Martinez, P. Olliaro, E. Ooko, E. Ortiz-Brizuela, A. Y. Peleg, C. Perrone, N. Plakkal, A. P. de Leon, M. Raad, T. Ramdin, A. Riddell, T. Roberts, J. V. Robotham, A. Roca, K. E. Rudd, N. Russell, J. Schnall, J. A. G. Scott, M. Shivamallappa, J. Sifuentes-Osornio, N. Steenkeste, A. J. Stewardson, T. Stoeva, N. Tasak, A. Thaiprakong, G. Thwaites, C. Turner, P. Turner, H. R. van Doorn, S. Velaphi, A. Vongpradith, H. Vu, T. Walsh, S. Waner, T. Wangrangsimakul, T. Wozniak, P. Zheng, B. Sartorius, A. D. Lopez, A. Stergachis, C. Moore, C. Dolecek, M. Naghavi, Global burden of bacterial antimicrobial resistance in 2019: a systematic analysis, The Lancet (Jan. 2022). doi:10.1016/s0140-6736(21)02724-0. URL https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(21)02724-0

- J. Hsu, How COVID-19 is accelerating the threat of antimicrobial resistance, BMJ 369 (2020) m1983.
 URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m1983
- [4] E. Tacconelli, E. Carrara, A. Savoldi, S. Harbarth, M. Mendelson, D. L. Monnet, C. Pulcini, G. Kahlmeter, J. Kluytmans, Y. Carmeli, M. Ouellette, K. Outterson, J. Patel, M. Cavaleri, E. M. Cox, C. R. Houchens, M. L. Grayson, P. Hansen, N. Singh, U. Theuretzbacher, N. Magrini, A. O. Aboderin, S. S. Al-Abri, N. Awang Jalil, N. Benzonana, S. Bhattacharya, A. J. Brink, F. R. Burkert, O. Cars, G. Cornaglia, O. J. Dyar, A. W. Friedrich, A. C. Gales, S. Gandra, C. G. Giske, D. A. Goff, H. Goossens, T. Gottlieb, M. Guzman Blanco, W. Hryniewicz, D. Kattula, T. Jinks, S. S. Kanj, L. Kerr, M.-P. Kieny, Y. S. Kim, R. S. Kozlov, J. Labarca, R. Laxminarayan, K. Leder, L. Leibovici, G. Levy-Hara, J. Littman, S. Malhotra-Kumar, V. Manchanda, L. Moja, B. Ndoye, A. Pan, D. L. Paterson, M. Paul, H. Qiu, P. Ramon-Pardo, J. Rodríguez-Baño, M. Sanguinetti, S. Sengupta, M. Sharland, M. Si-Mehand, L. L. Silver, W. Song, M. Steinbakk, J. Thomsen, G. E. Thwaites, J. W. van der Meer, N. Van Kinh, S. Vega, M. V. Villegas, A. Wechsler-Fördös, H. F. L. Wertheim, E. Wesangula, N. Woodford, F. O. Yilmaz, A. Zorzet, Discovery, research, and development of new antibiotics: the WHO priority list of antibiotic-resistant bacteria and tuberculosis, The Lancet Infectious Diseases 18 (3) (2018) 318-327. doi:10.1016/ s1473-3099(17)30753-3.

URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30753-3

- [5] C. for Disease Control, P. (U.S.), Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States, 2019 (Nov 2019).
 URL http://dx.doi.org/10.15620/cdc:82532
- [6] World Health Organisation, Country Office for India, Indian priority pathogen list (2021).
 URL https://dbtindia.gov.in/sites/default/files/IPPL_ final.pdf
- [7] World Health Organization, Global action plan on antimicrobial resistance (2016).
 URL https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789241509763

- [8] Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Quadripartite Memorandum of Understanding (2022).
 URL https://www.fao.org/3/cb9403en.cb9403en.pdf
- [9] World Health Organization, One Health Global Leaders Group on Antimicrobial Resistance (2022).
 URL https://www.who.int/groups/one-health-global-leaders-group-on-antimicrob
- [10] World Health Organization, Global antimicrobial resistance and use surveillance system (GLASS) report 2021 (2021).
 URL https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240027336
- [11] M. Bennett, K. Hayes, E. J. Kleczyk, R. Mehta, Similarities and Differences between Machine Learning and Traditional Advanced Statistical Modeling in Healthcare Analytics, arXiv preprint arXiv:2201.02469 (2022).
- [12] P. F. McDermott, J. J. Davis, Predicting antimicrobial susceptibility from the bacterial genome: a new paradigm for one health resistance monitoring, Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics 44 (2) (2021) 223–237.
- M. C. R. Melo, J. R. M. A. Maasch, C. de la Fuente-Nunez, Accelerating antibiotic discovery through artificial intelligence, Communications Biology 4 (1) (Sep. 2021). doi:10.1038/ s42003-021-02586-0. URL https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-021-02586-0
- [14] J. Lv, S. Deng, L. Zhang, A review of artificial intelligence applications for antimicrobial resistance, Biosafety and Health 3 (1) (2021) 22–31. doi:10.1016/j.bsheal.2020.08.003.
 URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bsheal.2020.08.003
- M. N. Anahtar, J. H. Yang, S. Kanjilal, Applications of machine learning to the problem of antimicrobial resistance: an emerging model for translational research, Journal of Clinical Microbiology 59 (7) (Jun 2021). doi:10.1128/jcm.01260-20. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01260-20
- [16] L. Lüftinger, P. Májek, S. Beisken, T. Rattei, A. E. Posch, Learning from limited data: Towards best practice techniques for antimicrobial

resistance prediction from whole genome sequencing data, Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology 11 (Feb 2021). doi:10.3389/ fcimb.2021.610348.

URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2021.610348

- T. K. Burki, The role of AI in diagnosing lung diseases, The Lancet Respiratory Medicine 7 (12) (2019) 1015-1016. doi:10.1016/s2213-2600(19)30331-5.
 URL https://doi.org/10.1016/s2213-2600(19)30331-5
- [18] N. Peiffer-Smadja, T. Rawson, R. Ahmad, A. Buchard, P. Georgiou, F.-X. Lescure, G. Birgand, A. Holmes, Machine learning for clinical decision support in infectious diseases: a narrative review of current applications, Clinical Microbiology and Infection 26 (5) (2020) 584–595. doi:10.1016/j.cmi.2019.09.009. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2019.09.009
- T. M. Rawson, N. Peiffer-Smadja, A. Holmes, Artificial intelligence in infectious diseases, Artificial Intelligence in Medicine (2022) 1327-1340doi:10.1007/978-3-030-64573-1_103. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-64573-1_103
- [20] O. O. Diallo, S. A. Baron, C. Abat, P. Colson, H. Chaudet, J.-M. Rolain, Antibiotic resistance surveillance systems: A review, Journal of Global Antimicrobial Resistance 23 (2020) 430-438. doi:10.1016/j.jgar.2020.10.009.
 URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jgar.2020.10.009
- [21] Clinical, L. S. Institute, Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing, 31st Edition, Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, 2021.
- [22] D. Brown, R. Cantón, L. Dubreuil, S. Gatermann, C. Giske, A. MacGowan, L. Martínez-Martínez, J. Mouton, R. Skov, M. Steinbakk, C. Walton, O. Heuer, M. J. Struelens, L. Diaz Högberg, G. Kahlmeter, Widespread implementation of eucast breakpoints for antibacterial susceptibility testing in europe, Eurosurveillance 20 (2) (Jan 2015). doi:10.2807/1560-7917.es2015.20.2.21008. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES2015.20.2.21008
- [23] A. R. White, The british society for antimicrobial chemotherapy resistance surveillance project: a successful collaborative model, Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 62 (Supplement 2) (2008) ii3-ii14. doi:10.1093/jac/dkn348. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkn348
- [24] F. Perez, M. V. Villegas, The role of surveillance systems in confronting the global crisis of antibiotic-resistant bacteria, Current opinion in infectious diseases 28 (4) (2015) 375.
- [25] S. L. Lammie, J. M. Hughes, Antimicrobial resistance, food safety, and one health: the need for convergence, Annual review of food science and technology 7 (2016) 287–312.
- [26] B. P. Alcock, A. R. Raphenya, T. T. Y. Lau, K. K. Tsang, M. Bouchard, A. Edalatmand, W. Huynh, A.-L. V. Nguyen, A. A. Cheng, S. Liu, S. Y. Min, A. Miroshnichenko, H.-K. Tran, R. E. Werfalli, J. A. Nasir, M. Oloni, D. J. Speicher, A. Florescu, B. Singh, M. Faltyn, A. Hernandez-Koutoucheva, A. N. Sharma, E. Bordeleau, A. C. Pawlowski, H. L. Zubyk, D. Dooley, E. Griffiths, F. Maguire, G. L. Winsor, R. G. Beiko, F. S. L. Brinkman, W. W. L. Hsiao, G. V. Domselaar, A. G. McArthur, CARD 2020: antibiotic resistome surveillance with the comprehensive antibiotic resistance database, Nucleic Acids Research (Oct. 2019). doi:10.1093/nar/gkz935. URL https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkz935
- [27] M. Feldgarden, V. Brover, N. Gonzalez-Escalona, J. G. Frye, J. Haendiges, D. H. Haft, M. Hoffmann, J. B. Pettengill, A. B. Prasad, G. E. Tillman, G. H. Tyson, W. Klimke, AMRFinderPlus and the reference gene catalog facilitate examination of the genomic links among antimicrobial resistance, stress response, and virulence, Scientific Reports 11 (1) (Jun. 2021). doi:10.1038/ s41598-021-91456-0. URL https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-91456-0
- [28] S. K. Gupta, B. R. Padmanabhan, S. M. Diene, R. Lopez-Rojas, M. Kempf, L. Landraud, J.-M. Rolain, ARG-ANNOT, a new bioinformatic tool to discover antibiotic resistance genes in bacterial

genomes, Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 58 (1) (2013) 212– 220. doi:10.1128/aac.01310-13. URL https://doi.org/10.1128/aac.01310-13

[29] V. Bortolaia, R. S. Kaas, E. Ruppe, M. C. Roberts, S. Schwarz, V. Cattoir, A. Philippon, R. L. Allesoe, A. R. Rebelo, A. F. Florensa, L. Fagelhauer, T. Chakraborty, B. Neumann, G. Werner, J. K. Bender, K. Stingl, M. Nguyen, J. Coppens, B. B. Xavier, S. Malhotra-Kumar, H. Westh, M. Pinholt, M. F. Anjum, N. A. Duggett, I. Kempf, S. Nykäsenoja, S. Olkkola, K. Wieczorek, A. Amaro, L. Clemente, J. Mossong, S. Losch, C. Ragimbeau, O. Lund, F. M. Aarestrup, ResFinder 4.0 for predictions of phenotypes from genotypes, Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 75 (12) (2020) 3491–3500. doi:10. 1093/jac/dkaa345.

URL https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkaa345

- [30] D. A. Antonopoulos, R. Assaf, R. K. Aziz, T. Brettin, C. Bun, N. Conrad, J. J. Davis, E. M. Dietrich, T. Disz, S. Gerdes, R. W. Kenyon, D. Machi, C. Mao, D. E. Murphy-Olson, E. K. Nordberg, G. J. Olsen, R. Olson, R. Overbeek, B. Parrello, G. D. Pusch, J. Santerre, M. Shukla, R. L. Stevens, M. VanOeffelen, V. Vonstein, A. S. Warren, A. R. Wattam, F. Xia, H. Yoo, PATRIC as a unique resource for studying antimicrobial resistance, Briefings in Bioinformatics 20 (4) (2017) 1094–1102. doi:10.1093/bib/bbx083. URL https://doi.org/10.1093/bib/bbx083
- [31] G. A. Arango-Argoty, G. K. P. Guron, E. Garner, M. V. Riquelme, L. S. Heath, A. Pruden, P. J. Vikesland, L. Zhang, ARGminer: a web platform for the crowdsourcing-based curation of antibiotic resistance genes, Bioinformatics 36 (9) (2020) 2966-2973. doi:10. 1093/bioinformatics/btaa095. URL https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btaa095
- [32] D. M. Aanensen, E. J. Feil, M. T. G. Holden, J. Dordel, C. A. Yeats, A. Fedosejev, R. Goater, S. Castillo-Ramírez, J. Corander, C. Colijn, M. A. Chlebowicz, L. Schouls, M. Heck, G. Pluister, R. Ruimy, G. Kahlmeter, J. Åhman, E. Matuschek, A. W. Friedrich, J. Parkhill, S. D. Bentley, B. G. Spratt, H. Grundmann, Whole-Genome Sequencing for Routine Pathogen Surveillance in Public Health: a

Population Snapshot of Invasive Staphylococcus aureus in Europe, mBio 7 (3) (Jul. 2016). doi:10.1128/mbio.00444-16. URL https://doi.org/10.1128/mbio.00444-16

- [33] A. Khaledi, A. Weimann, M. Schniederjans, E. Asgari, T.-H. Kuo, A. Oliver, G. Cabot, A. Kola, P. Gastmeier, M. Hogardt, D. Jonas, M. R. Mofrad, A. Bremges, A. C. McHardy, S. Häussler, Predicting antimicrobial resistance in Pseudomonas aeruginosa with machine learning-enabled molecular diagnostics, EMBO Molecular Medicine 12 (3) (Feb. 2020). doi:10.15252/emmm.201910264. URL https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201910264
- [34] M. Nguyen, R. Olson, M. Shukla, M. VanOeffelen, J. J. Davis, Predicting antimicrobial resistance using conserved genes, PLOS Computational Biology 16 (10) (2020) e1008319. doi:10.1371/ journal.pcbi.1008319. URL https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1008319
- [35] K. Břinda, A. Callendrello, K. C. Ma, D. R. MacFadden, T. Charalampous, R. S. Lee, L. Cowley, C. B. Wadsworth, Y. H. Grad, G. Kucherov, J. O'Grady, M. Baym, W. P. Hanage, Rapid inference of antibiotic resistance and susceptibility by genomic neighbour typing, Nature Microbiology 5 (3) (2020) 455-464. doi:10.1038/ s41564-019-0656-6. URL https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-019-0656-6
- [36] S. Suzuki, T. Horinouchi, C. Furusawa, Prediction of antibiotic resistance by gene expression profiles, Nature Communications 5 (1) (Dec 2014). doi:10.1038/ncomms6792.
 URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ncomms6792
- [37] I. Ferreira, S. Beisken, L. Lueftinger, T. Weinmaier, M. Klein, J. Bacher, R. Patel, A. von Haeseler, A. E. Posch, Species Identification and Antibiotic Resistance Prediction by Analysis of Whole-Genome Sequence Data by Use of ARESdb: an Analysis of Isolates from the Unyvero Lower Respiratory Tract Infection Trial, Journal of Clinical Microbiology 58 (7) (Jun 2020). doi:10.1128/jcm.00273-20. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00273-20

- [38] A. L. Hicks, N. Wheeler, L. Sánchez-Busó, J. L. Rakeman, S. R. Harris, Y. H. Grad, Evaluation of parameters affecting performance and reliability of machine learning-based antibiotic susceptibility testing from whole genome sequencing data, PLOS Computational Biology 15 (9) (2019) e1007349. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1007349. URL https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1007349
- [39] A. Kantele, E. Kuenzli, S. J. Dunn, D. A. B. Dance, P. N. Newton, V. Davong, S. Mero, S. H. Pakkanen, A. Neumayr, C. Hatz, A. Snaith, T. Kallonen, J. Corander, A. McNally, Dynamics of intestinal multidrug-resistant bacteria colonisation contracted by visitors to a high-endemic setting: a prospective, daily, real-time sampling study, The Lancet Microbe 2 (4) (2021) e151–e158. doi:10.1016/ s2666-5247(20)30224-x. URL https://doi.org/10.1016/s2666-5247(20)30224-x
- [40] H. Bennani, A. Mateus, N. Mays, E. Eastmure, K. D. C. Stärk, B. Häsler, Overview of evidence of antimicrobial use and antimicrobial resistance in the food chain, Antibiotics 9 (2) (2020) 49. doi:10.3390/ antibiotics9020049. URL https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics9020049
- [41] C. Ludden, K. E. Raven, D. Jamrozy, T. Gouliouris, B. Blane, F. Coll, M. de Goffau, P. Naydenova, C. Horner, J. Hernandez-Garcia, P. Wood, N. Hadjirin, M. Radakovic, N. M. Brown, M. Holmes, J. Parkhill, S. J. Peacock, One Health Genomic Surveillance of Escherichia coli Demonstrates Distinct Lineages and Mobile Genetic Elements in Isolates from Humans versus Livestock, mBio 10 (1) (Feb. 2019). doi:10.1128/mbio.02693-18. URL https://doi.org/10.1128/mbio.02693-18
- [42] A. S. R. Duarte, T. Röder, L. Van Gompel, T. N. Petersen, R. B. Hansen, I. M. Hansen, A. Bossers, F. M. Aarestrup, J. A. Wagenaar, T. Hald, Metagenomics-based approach to sourceattribution of antimicrobial resistance determinants-identification of reservoir resistome signatures, Frontiers in microbiology (2021) 3447.
- [43] A. M. Niewiadomska, B. Jayabalasingham, J. C. Seidman, L. Willem, B. Grenfell, D. Spiro, C. Viboud, Population-level mathematical

modeling of antimicrobial resistance: a systematic review, BMC medicine 17 (1) (2019) 1–20.

- [44] G. M. Knight, N. G. Davies, C. Colijn, F. Coll, T. Donker, D. R. Gifford, R. E. Glover, M. Jit, E. Klemm, S. Lehtinen, J. A. Lindsay, M. Lipsitch, M. J. Llewelyn, A. L. P. Mateus, J. V. Robotham, M. Sharland, D. Stekel, L. Yakob, K. E. Atkins, Mathematical modelling for antibiotic resistance control policy: do we know enough?, BMC Infectious Diseases 19 (1) (2019) 1–9.
- [45] D. Emes, N. Naylor, J. Waage, G. Knight, Quantifying the relationship between antibiotic use in food-producing animals and antibiotic resistance in humans, Antibiotics 11 (1) (2022) 66. doi:10.3390/ antibiotics11010066. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics11010066
- [46] R. J. McGuire, S. C. Yu, P. R. O. Payne, A. M. Lai, M. C. Vazquez-Guillamet, M. H. Kollef, A. P. Michelson, A pragmatic machine learning model to predict carbapenem resistance, Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 65 (7) (Jun 2021). doi:10.1128/aac.00063-21. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00063-21
- [47] P. J. Simner, H. H. Mostafa, Y. Bergman, M. Ante, T. Tekle, A. Adebayo, S. Beisken, K. Dzintars, P. D. Tamma, Progressive Development of Cefiderocol Resistance in Escherichia coli During Therapy is Associated With an Increase in blaNDM-5 Copy Number and Gene Expression, Clinical Infectious Diseases (Oct 2021). doi: 10.1093/cid/ciab888. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciab888
- [48] B. Allegranzi, D. Pittet, Role of hand hygiene in healthcare-associated infection prevention, Journal of hospital infection 73 (4) (2009) 305– 315.
- [49] D. Pittet, Compliance with hand disinfection and its impact on hospital-acquired infections, Journal of Hospital Infection 48 (2001) S40–S46.
- [50] V. Erasmus, T. J. Daha, H. Brug, J. H. Richardus, M. D. Behrendt, M. C. Vos, E. F. van Beeck, Systematic review of studies on compliance

with hand hygiene guidelines in hospital care, Infection Control & Hospital Epidemiology 31 (3) (2010) 283–294.

- [51] W. Zingg, B. J. Park, J. Storr, R. Ahmad, C. Tarrant, E. Castro-Sanchez, E. Perencevich, A. Widmer, K.-H. Krause, C. Kilpatrick, S. Tomczyk, B. Allegranzi, D. Cardo, D. Pittet, Technology for the prevention of antimicrobial resistance and healthcare-associated infections; 2017 Geneva IPC-Think Tank (Part 2), Antimicrobial Resistance & Infection Control 8 (1) (2019) 1–5.
- [52] J. Al Salman, S. Hani, N. de Marcellis-Warin, S. F. Isa, Effectiveness of an electronic hand hygiene monitoring system on healthcare workers' compliance to guidelines, Journal of infection and public health 8 (2) (2015) 117–126.
- [53] J. Dyson, M. Madeo, Investigating the use of an electronic hand hygiene monitoring and prompt device: influence and acceptability, Journal of infection prevention 18 (6) (2017) 278–287.
- [54] J. B. Pettengill, A. Markell, A. Conrad, H. A. Carleton, J. Beal, H. Rand, S. Musser, E. W. Brown, M. W. Allard, J. Huffman, S. Harris, M. Wise, A. Locas, A multinational listeriosis outbreak and the importance of sharing genomic data, The Lancet Microbe 1 (6) (2020) e233-e234. doi:10.1016/s2666-5247(20)30122-1. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2666-5247(20)30122-1
- [55] J. Vekemans, M. Hasso-Agopsowicz, G. Kang, W. P. Hausdorff, A. Fiore, E. Tayler, E. J. Klemm, R. Laxminarayan, P. Srikantiah, M. Friede, M. Lipsitch, Leveraging vaccines to reduce antibiotic use and prevent antimicrobial resistance: A world health organization action framework, Clinical Infectious Diseases 73 (4) (2021) e1011-e1017. doi:10.1093/cid/ciab062. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciab062
- [56] P. Buchy, S. Ascioglu, Y. Buisson, S. Datta, M. Nissen, P. A. Tambyah, S. Vong, Impact of vaccines on antimicrobial resistance, International Journal of Infectious Diseases 90 (2020) 188-196. doi:10.1016/j. ijid.2019.10.005. URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2019.10.005

- [57] M. Dróżdż, M. Małaszczuk, E. Paluch, A. Pawlak, Zoonotic potential and prevalence of salmonella serovars isolated from pets, Infection Ecology & Epidemiology 11 (1) (Jan 2021). doi:10.1080/20008686.
 2021.1975530. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/20008686.2021.1975530
- [58] F. Micoli, F. Bagnoli, R. Rappuoli, D. Serruto, The role of vaccines in combatting antimicrobial resistance, Nature Reviews Microbiology 19 (5) (2021) 287-302. doi:10.1038/s41579-020-00506-3. URL https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-020-00506-3
- [59] T. Azimi, M. Conway, J. Heller, A. Sabow, G. Tolub, Refueling the innovation engine in vaccines, McKinsey Co (2019).
- [60] C. E. Utazi, J. Thorley, V. A. Alegana, M. J. Ferrari, S. Takahashi, C. J. E. Metcalf, J. Lessler, F. T. Cutts, A. J. Tatem, Mapping vaccination coverage to explore the effects of delivery mechanisms and inform vaccination strategies, Nature communications 10 (1) (2019) 1–10.
- [61] T. G. Tiecke, X. Liu, A. Zhang, A. Gros, N. Li, G. Yetman, T. Kilic, S. Murray, B. Blankespoor, E. B. Prydz, H.-A. H. Dang, Mapping the world population one building at a time, arXiv preprint arXiv:1712.05839 (2017).
- [62] M. Recker, M. Laabei, M. S. Toleman, S. Reuter, R. B. Saunderson, B. Blane, M. E. Török, K. Ouadi, E. Stevens, M. Yokoyama, J. Steventon, L. Thompson, G. Milne, S. Bayliss, L. Bacon, S. J. Peacock, R. C. Massey, Clonal differences in Staphylococcus aureus bacteraemia-associated mortality, Nature Microbiology 2 (10) (2017) 1381–1388. doi:10.1038/s41564-017-0001-x. URL https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-017-0001-x
- [63] N. E. Wheeler, P. P. Gardner, L. Barquist, Machine learning identifies signatures of host adaptation in the bacterial pathogen Salmonella enterica, PLoS Genetics 14 (5) (2018) e1007333.
- [64] S. Van Puyvelde, D. Pickard, K. Vandelannoote, E. Heinz, B. Barbé, T. de Block, S. Clare, E. L. Coomber, K. Harcourt, S. Sridhar, E. A. Lees, N. E. Wheeler, E. J. Klemm, L. Kuijpers, L. Mbuyi Kalonji,

M.-F. Phoba, D. Falay, D. Ngbonda, O. Lunguya, J. Jacobs, G. Dougan, S. Deborggraeve, An African Salmonella Typhimurium ST313 sublineage with extensive drug-resistance and signatures of host adaptation, Nat. Commun. 10 (1) (2019) 4280.

- [65] D. Wang, J. Li, Y. Sun, X. Ding, X. Zhang, S. Liu, B. Han, H. Wang, X. Duan, T. Sun, A Machine Learning Model for Accurate Prediction of Sepsis in ICU Patients, Frontiers in public health (2021) 1534.
- [66] Y. Zoabi, O. Kehat, D. Lahav, A. Weiss-Meilik, A. Adler, N. Shomron, Predicting bloodstream infection outcome using machine learning, Scientific reports 11 (1) (2021) 1–11.
- [67] M. Barchitta, A. Maugeri, G. Favara, P. M. Riela, G. Gallo, I. Mura, A. Agodi, S.-U. Network, A machine learning approach to predict healthcare-associated infections at intensive care unit admission: findings from the SPIN-UTI project, Journal of Hospital Infection 112 (2021) 77–86.
- [68] S. Panchavati, N. S. Zelin, A. Garikipati, E. Pellegrini, Z. Iqbal, G. Barnes, J. Hoffman, J. Calvert, Q. Mao, R. Das, A comparative analysis of machine learning approaches to predict C. difficile infection in hospitalized patients, American Journal of Infection Control (2022).
- [69] A. J. Sundermann, J. Chen, P. Kumar, A. M. Ayres, S.-T. Cho, C. Ezeonwuka, M. P. Griffith, J. K. Miller, M. M. Mustapha, A. W. Pasculle, M. I. Saul, K. A. Shutt, V. Srinivasa, K. Waggle, D. J. Snyder, V. S. Cooper, D. Van Tyne, G. M. Snyder, J. W. Marsh, A. Dubrawski, M. S. Roberts, L. H. Harrison, Whole-genome sequencing surveillance and machine learning of the electronic health record for enhanced healthcare outbreak detection, Clinical Infectious Diseases (Nov 2021). doi:10.1093/cid/ciab946. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciab946
- M. H. Kollef, Broad-spectrum antimicrobials and the treatment of serious bacterial infections: Getting it right up front, Clinical Infectious Diseases 47 (S1) (2008) S3-S13. doi:10.1086/590061.
 URL https://doi.org/10.1086/590061

[71] R. P. Dellinger, M. M. Levy, A. Rhodes, D. Annane, H. Gerlach, S. M. Opal, J. E. Sevransky, C. L. Sprung, I. S. Douglas, R. Jaeschke, T. M. Osborn, M. E. Nunnally, S. R. Townsend, K. Reinhart, R. M. Kleinpell, D. C. Angus, C. S. Deutschman, F. R. Machado, G. D. Rubenfeld, S. A. Webb, R. J. Beale, J.-L. Vincent, R. Moreno, Surviving sepsis campaign, Critical Care Medicine 41 (2) (2013) 580–637. doi:10.1097/ccm.0b013e31827e83af.

URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/CCM.0b013e31827e83af

- [72] H. C. Carlton, J. Savović, S. Dawson, P. J. Mitchelmore, M. M. Elwenspoek, Novel point-of-care biomarker combination tests to differentiate acute bacterial from viral respiratory tract infections to guide antibiotic prescribing: a systematic review, Clinical Microbiology and Infection 27 (8) (2021) 1096-1108. doi:10.1016/j.cmi.2021.05.018. URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2021.05.018
- T. H. Boyles, S. Wasserman, Diagnosis of bacterial infection, South African Medical Journal 105 (5) (2015) 419. doi:10.7196/samj.9647. URL https://doi.org/10.7196/samj.9647
- [74] A. M. Voermans, J. C. Mewes, M. R. Broyles, L. M. Steuten, Costeffectiveness analysis of a procalcitonin-guided decision algorithm for antibiotic stewardship using real-world us hospital data, Omics: a journal of integrative biology 23 (10) (2019) 508–515.
- [75] M. Paul, S. Andreassen, E. Tacconelli, A. D. Nielsen, N. Almanasreh, U. Frank, R. Cauda, L. Leibovici, Improving empirical antibiotic treatment using TREAT, a computerized decision support system: cluster randomized trial, Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 58 (6) (2006) 1238–1245. doi:10.1093/jac/dk1372. URL https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dk1372
- [76] A. S. Chowdhury, E. T. Lofgren, R. W. Moehring, S. L. Broschat, Identifying predictors of antimicrobial exposure in hospitalized patients using a machine learning approach, Journal of applied microbiology 128 (3) (2020) 688–696.
- [77] E. Moran, E. Robinson, C. Green, M. Keeling, B. Collyer, Towards personalized guidelines: using machine-learning algorithms to guide

antimicrobial selection, Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 75 (9) (2020) 2677–2680.

- [78] S. Kanjilal, M. Oberst, S. Boominathan, H. Zhou, D. C. Hooper, D. Sontag, A decision algorithm to promote outpatient antimicrobial stewardship for uncomplicated urinary tract infection, Science Translational Medicine 12 (568) (2020).
- [79] U. J. Muehlematter, P. Daniore, K. N. Vokinger, Approval of artificial intelligence and machine learning-based medical devices in the USA and Europe (2015-20): a comparative analysis, The Lancet Digital Health 3 (3) (2021) e195-e203. doi:10.1016/s2589-7500(20) 30292-2. URL https://doi.org/10.1016/s2589-7500(20)30292-2
- [80] S. Benjamens, P. Dhunnoo, B. Meskó, The state of artificial intelligence-based FDA-approved medical devices and algorithms: an online database, Nature Digital Medicine 3 (1) (Sep. 2020). doi: 10.1038/s41746-020-00324-0. URL https://doi.org/10.1038/s41746-020-00324-0
- [81] Regulation (EU) 2017/746 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 April 2017 on in vitro diagnostic medical devices and repealing Directive 98/79/EC and Commission Decision 2010/227/EU (2017).
 URL https://eur-lex.europa.eu/eli/reg/2017/746/oj
- [82] M. Ellington, O. Ekelund, F. Aarestrup, R. Canton, M. Doumith, C. Giske, H. Grundman, H. Hasman, M. Holden, K. Hopkins, J. Iredell, G. Kahlmeter, C. Köser, A. MacGowan, D. Mevius, M. Mulvey, T. Naas, T. Peto, J.-M. Rolain, O. Samuelsen, N. Woodford, The role of whole genome sequencing in antimicrobial susceptibility testing of bacteria: report from the EUCAST Subcommittee, Clinical Microbiology and Infection 23 (1) (2017) 2–22. doi:10.1016/j.cmi. 2016.11.012.

URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2016.11.012

[83] M. Ben Khedher, K. Ghedira, J.-M. Rolain, R. Ruimy, O. Croce, Application and challenge of 3rd generation sequencing for clinical bacterial studies, International Journal of Molecular Sciences 23 (3) (2022) 1395. doi:10.3390/ijms23031395. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijms23031395

- [84] C. Y. Chiu, S. A. Miller, Clinical metagenomics, Nature Reviews Genetics 20 (6) (2019) 341–355. doi:10.1038/s41576-019-0113-7. URL https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-019-0113-7
- [85] S. Kasas, A. Malovichko, M. I. Villalba, M. E. Vela, O. Yantorno, R. G. Willaert, Nanomotion detection-based rapid antibiotic susceptibility testing, Antibiotics 10 (3) (2021) 287. doi:10.3390/ antibiotics10030287. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics10030287
- [86] G. D. Kaprou, I. Bergšpica, E. A. Alexa, A. Alvarez-Ordóñez, M. Prieto, Rapid methods for antimicrobial resistance diagnostics, Antibiotics 10 (2) (2021) 209. doi:10.3390/antibiotics10020209. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics10020209
- [87] G. A. Blackwell, M. Hunt, K. M. Malone, L. Lima, G. Horesh, B. T. F. Alako, N. R. Thomson, Z. Iqbal, Exploring bacterial diversity via a curated and searchable snapshot of archived DNA sequences, PLOS Biology 19 (11) (2021) e3001421. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio. 3001421. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.3001421
- [88] A. van Belkum, W. M. Dunne, Next-generation antimicrobial susceptibility testing, Journal of Clinical Microbiology 51 (7) (2013) 2018-2024. doi:10.1128/jcm.00313-13.
 URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00313-13
- [89] R. Dyrhovden, M. Rippin, K. K. Øvrebø, R. M. Nygaard, E. Ulvestad,
 Ø. Kommedal, Managing Contamination and Diverse Bacterial Loads in 16S rRNA Deep Sequencing of Clinical Samples: Implications of the Law of Small Numbers, mBio 12 (3) (Jun 2021). doi:10.1128/mbio. 00598-21. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00598-21
- [90] Z. Ruan, S. Zou, Z. Wang, L. Zhang, H. Chen, Y. Wu, H. Jia, M. S. Draz, Y. Feng, Toward accurate diagnosis and surveillance of bacterial infections using enhanced strain-level metagenomic next-generation

sequencing of infected body fluids, Briefings in Bioinformatics (Feb 2022). doi:10.1093/bib/bbac004. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/bib/bbac004

- [91] M. Malczynski, A. Zhu, T. Zembower, C. Qi, Diagnostic performance of Ion 16S metagenomics kit and Ion reporter metagenomics workflow for bacterial pathogen detection in culture-negative clinical specimens from sterile sources, Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease 101 (2) (2021) 115451. doi:10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2021.115451. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2021.115451
- [92] C. Grumaz, A. Hoffmann, Y. Vainshtein, M. Kopp, S. Grumaz, P. Stevens, S. O. Decker, M. A. Weigand, S. Hofer, T. Brenner, K. Sohn, Rapid next-generation sequencing-based diagnostics of bacteremia in septic patients, The Journal of Molecular Diagnostics 22 (3) (2020) 405-418. doi:10.1016/j.jmoldx.2019.12.006. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jmoldx.2019.12.006
- [93] K. Schmidt, S. Mwaigwisya, L. C. Crossman, M. Doumith, D. Munroe, C. Pires, A. M. Khan, N. Woodford, N. J. Saunders, J. Wain, J. O'Grady, D. M. Livermore, Identification of bacterial pathogens and antimicrobial resistance directly from clinical urines by nanopore-based metagenomic sequencing, Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 72 (1) (2016) 104–114. doi:10.1093/jac/dkw397. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkw397
- [94] A. M. Taxt, E. Avershina, S. A. Frye, U. Naseer, R. Ahmad, Rapid identification of pathogens, antibiotic resistance genes and plasmids in blood cultures by nanopore sequencing, Scientific Reports 10 (1) (May 2020). doi:10.1038/s41598-020-64616-x. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-64616-x
- [95] A. Mezger, E. Gullberg, J. Göransson, A. Zorzet, D. Herthnek, E. Tano, M. Nilsson, D. I. Andersson, A general method for rapid determination of antibiotic susceptibility and species in bacterial infections, Journal of Clinical Microbiology 53 (2) (2015) 425-432. doi:10.1128/jcm. 02434-14.
 UDL http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/JCM.00424.14

URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JCM.02434-14

- [96] P. Athamanolap, K. Hsieh, L. Chen, S. Yang, T.-H. Wang, Integrated Bacterial Identification and Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing Using PCR and High-Resolution Melt, Analytical Chemistry 89 (21) (2017) 11529-11536. doi:10.1021/acs.analchem.7b02809. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.7b02809
- [97] A. Aghazadeh, A. Y. Lin, M. A. Sheikh, A. L. Chen, L. M. Atkins, C. L. Johnson, J. F. Petrosino, R. A. Drezek, R. G. Baraniuk, Universal microbial diagnostics using random DNA probes, Science Advances 2 (9) (Sep 2016). doi:10.1126/sciadv.1600025. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1600025
- [98] M. Reyes, M. R. Filbin, R. P. Bhattacharyya, K. Billman, T. Eisenhaure, D. T. Hung, B. D. Levy, R. M. Baron, P. C. Blainey, M. B. Goldberg, N. Hacohen, An immune-cell signature of bacterial sepsis, Nature Medicine 26 (3) (2020) 333-340. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0752-4. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-0752-4
- [99] N. Ramchandar, N. G. Coufal, A. S. Warden, B. Briggs, T. Schwarz, R. Stinnett, H. Xie, R. Schlaberg, J. Foley, C. Clarke, B. Waldeman, C. Enriquez, S. Osborne, A. Arrieta, D. Salyakina, M. Janvier, P. Sendi, B. R. Totapally, D. Dimmock, L. Farnaes, Metagenomic next-generation sequencing for pathogen detection and transcriptomic analysis in pediatric central nervous system infections, Open Forum Infectious Diseases 8 (6) (Mar 2021). doi:10.1093/ofid/ofab104. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofab104
- [100] M. Sater, R. Schwab, I. Herriott, T. Farrell, M. Huntley, Same-day transmission analysis of nosocomial transmission using nanopore whole genome sequencing, Open Forum Infectious Diseases 8 (Supplement_1) (2021) S497–S498. doi:10.1093/ofid/ofab466.1003. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofab466.1003
- [101] V. Galata, C. C. Laczny, C. Backes, G. Hemmrich-Stanisak, S. Schmolke, A. Franke, E. Meese, M. Herrmann, L. von Müller, A. Plum, et al., Integrating culture-based antibiotic resistance profiles with whole-genome sequencing data for 11,087 clinical isolates, Genomics, Proteomics & Bioinformatics 17 (2) (2019) 169–182. doi:

10.1016/j.gpb.2018.11.002. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gpb.2018.11.002

[102] M. Pascucci, G. Royer, J. Adamek, D. Aristizabal, L. Blanche, A. Bezzarga, G. Boniface-Chang, A. Brunner, C. Curel, G. Dulac-Arnold, et al., The first AI-based mobile application for antibiotic resistance testing, bioRxiv (Jul 2020). doi:10.1101/2020.07.23. 216929.
URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1101/2020.07.23.216020

URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1101/2020.07.23.216929

- [103] M. Ullberg, V. Özenci, Identification and antimicrobial susceptibility testing of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria from positive blood cultures using the Accelerate Pheno system, European Journal of Clinical Microbiology & Infectious Diseases 39 (1) (2019) 139–149. doi:10.1007/s10096-019-03703-y. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10096-019-03703-y
- [104] I. Persson, A. Ostling, M. Arlbrandt, J. Söderberg, D. Becedas, A Machine Learning Sepsis Prediction Algorithm for Intended Intensive Care Unit Use (NAVOY Sepsis): Proof-of-Concept Study, JMIR Form Res 5 (9) (2021) e28000. doi:10.2196/28000. URL http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/34591016
- [105] O. Lewin-Epstein, S. Baruch, L. Hadany, G. Y. Stein, U. Obolski, Predicting antibiotic resistance in hospitalized patients by applying machine learning to electronic medical records, Clinical Infectious Diseases 72 (11) (2020) e848-e855. doi:10.1093/cid/ciaa1576. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa1576
- [106] S. Hannah, A. Dobrea, P. Lasserre, E. O. Blair, D. Alcorn, P. A. Hoskisson, D. K. Corrigan, Development of a Rapid, Antimicrobial Susceptibility Test for Escherichia coli Based on Low-Cost, Screen-Printed Electrodes, Biosensors 10 (11) (2020) 153. doi:10.3390/bios10110153. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/bios10110153
- [107] S. Costa-de Oliveira, R. Teixeira-Santos, A. P. Silva, E. Pinho, P. Mergulhão, A. Silva-Dias, N. Marques, I. Martins-Oliveira, A. G. Rodrigues, J. A. Paiva, et al., Potential Impact of Flow Cytometry Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing on the Clinical Management of

Gram-Negative Bacteremia Using the FASTinov® Kit, Frontiers in Microbiology 8 (Dec 2017). doi:10.3389/fmicb.2017.02455. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.02455

[108] T. J. J. Inglis, T. F. Paton, M. K. Kopczyk, K. T. Mulroney, C. F. Carson, Same-day antimicrobial susceptibility test using acoustic-enhanced flow cytometry visualized with supervised machine learning, Journal of Medical Microbiology 69 (5) (2020) 657-669. doi:10.1099/jmm.0.001092.
 UPL https://doi.org/10.1009/jmm.0.001092

URL https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.001092

- [109] J. M. Lewis, R. S. Savage, N. J. Beeching, M. B. J. Beadsworth, N. Feasey, J. A. Covington, Identifying volatile metabolite signatures for the diagnosis of bacterial respiratory tract infection using electronic nose technology: A pilot study, PLOS ONE 12 (12) (2017) e0188879. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0188879. URL https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0188879
- [110] P. Wistrand-Yuen, C. Malmberg, N. Fatsis-Kavalopoulos, M. Lübke, T. Tängdén, J. Kreuger, A multiplex fluidic chip for rapid phenotypic antibiotic susceptibility testing, mBio 11 (1) (Feb 2020). doi:10.1128/ mbio.03109-19. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/mBio.03109-19
- [111] N. Gammel, T. L. Ross, S. Lewis, M. Olson, S. Henciak, R. Harris, A. Hanlon, K. C. Carroll, Comparison of an Automated Plate Assessment System (APAS Independence) and Artificial Intelligence (AI) to Manual Plate Reading of Methicillin-Resistant and Methicillin-Susceptible Staphylococcus aureus CHROMagar Surveillance Cultures, Journal of Clinical Microbiology 59 (11) (Oct 2021). doi:10.1128/ jcm.00971-21. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00971-21
- [112] D. C. Spencer, T. F. Paton, K. T. Mulroney, T. J. J. Inglis, J. M. Sutton, H. Morgan, A fast impedance-based antimicrobial susceptibility test, Nature Communications 11 (1) (Oct 2020). doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-18902-x. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-18902-x

- [113] D.-H. Park, K. Park, J. Park, H.-H. Park, H. Chae, J. Lim, E.-J. Oh, Y. Kim, Y.-J. Park, K. Han, Screening of sepsis using leukocyte cell population data from the Coulter automatic blood cell analyzer DxH800, International Journal of Laboratory Hematology 33 (4) (2011) 391–399. doi:10.1111/j.1751-553x.2011.01298.x. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-553X.2011.01298.x
- [114] T. S. Horseman, M. B. Lustik, K. S. Fong, Rapid qualitative antibiotic resistance characterization using VITEK MS, Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease 97 (4) (2020) 115093. doi: 10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2020.115093. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2020.115093
- [115] B. Rodríguez-Sánchez, M. Oviaño, Advanced Applications of MALDI-TOF: Identification and Antibiotic Susceptibility Testing, Application and Integration of Omics-powered Diagnostics in Clinical and Public Health Microbiology (2021) 175–189.
- [116] C. Weis, A. Cuénod, B. Rieck, O. Dubuis, S. Graf, C. Lang, M. Oberle, M. Brackmann, K. K. Søgaard, M. Osthoff, K. Borgwardt, A. Egli, Direct antimicrobial resistance prediction from clinical MALDI-TOF mass spectra using machine learning, Nature Medicine 28 (1) (2022) 164–174. doi:10.1038/s41591-021-01619-9. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41591-021-01619-9
- [117] J. Avesar, D. Rosenfeld, M. Truman-Rosentsvit, T. Ben-Arye, Y. Geffen, M. Bercovici, S. Levenberg, Rapid phenotypic antimicrobial susceptibility testing using nanoliter arrays, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114 (29) (2017) E5787-E5795. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1703736114. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1703736114
- [118] C. Tellapragada, B. Hasan, A. Antonelli, A. Maruri, C. de Vogel, D. Gijón, M. Coppi, A. Verbon, W. van Wamel, G. Rossolini, R. Cantón, C. Giske, Isothermal microcalorimetry minimal inhibitory concentration testing in extensively drug resistant Gram-negative bacilli: a multicentre study, Clinical Microbiology and Infection 26 (10) (2020) 1413.e1-1413.e7. doi:10.1016/j.cmi.2020.01.026. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2020.01.026

- [119] S. Feng, D. Tseng, D. Di Carlo, O. B. Garner, A. Ozcan, High-throughput and automated diagnosis of antimicrobial resistance using a cost-effective cellphone-based micro-plate reader, Scientific Reports 6 (1) (Dec 2016). doi:10.1038/srep39203. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/srep39203
- [120] L. Wang, W. Liu, J.-W. Tang, J.-J. Wang, Q.-H. Liu, P.-B. Wen, M.-M. Wang, Y.-C. Pan, B. Gu, X. Zhang, Applications of Raman Spectroscopy in Bacterial Infections: Principles, Advantages, and Shortcomings, Frontiers in Microbiology 12 (Jul 2021). doi:10.3389/ fmicb.2021.683580. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.683580
- [121] S. Kwangmin, S. Roman, Analyzing and using motility kinematics of microorganisms (US Patent US-10266867-B2, 2019).
- [122] M. J. Llewelyn, J. M. Fitzpatrick, E. Darwin, SarahTonkin-Crine, C. Gorton, J. Paul, T. E. A. Peto, L. Yardley, S. Hopkins, A. S. Walker, The antibiotic course has had its day, BMJ (2017) j3418doi: 10.1136/bmj.j3418. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.j3418
- [123] G. D. Wright, Opportunities for natural products in 21st century antibiotic discovery, Natural Product Reports 34 (7) (2017) 694-701. doi:10.1039/c7np00019g. URL https://doi.org/10.1039/c7np00019g
- [124] A. G. Atanasov, S. B. Zotchev, V. M. Dirsch, C. T. Supuran, Natural products in drug discovery: advances and opportunities, Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 20 (3) (2021) 200-216. doi:10.1038/ s41573-020-00114-z. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41573-020-00114-z
- [125] B. Plackett, Why big pharma has abandoned antibiotics, Nature 586 (7830) (2020) S50–S52. doi:10.1038/d41586-020-02884-3. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/d41586-020-02884-3
- [126] V. I. Enne, D. M. Livermore, P. Stephens, L. M. Hall, Persistence of sulphonamide resistance in Escherichia coli in the UK despite national prescribing restriction, The Lancet 357 (9265) (2001) 1325–1328. doi:

10.1016/s0140-6736(00)04519-0. URL https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(00)04519-0

- [127] E. Mahase, UK launches subscription style model for antibiotics to encourage new development, BMJ (2020) m2468doi:10.1136/bmj. m2468. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m2468
- [128] S. Ekins, A. C. Puhl, K. M. Zorn, T. R. Lane, D. P. Russo, J. J. Klein, A. J. Hickey, A. M. Clark, Exploiting machine learning for end-toend drug discovery and development, Nature Materials 18 (5) (2019) 435-441. doi:10.1038/s41563-019-0338-z. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41563-019-0338-z
- [129] A. Bender, I. Cortés-Ciriano, Artificial intelligence in drug discovery: what is realistic, what are illusions? Part 1: Ways to make an impact, and why we are not there yet, Drug Discovery Today 26 (2) (2021) 511-524. doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2020.12.009. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2020.12.009
- [130] A. Bender, I. Cortes-Ciriano, Artificial intelligence in drug discovery: what is realistic, what are illusions? Part 2: a discussion of chemical and biological data, Drug Discovery Today 26 (4) (2021) 1040–1052. doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2020.11.037. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2020.11.037
- [131] M. Miethke, M. Pieroni, T. Weber, M. Brönstrup, P. Hammann, L. Halby, P. B. Arimondo, P. Glaser, B. Aigle, H. B. Bode, R. Moreira, Y. Li, A. Luzhetskyy, M. H. Medema, J.-L. Pernodet, M. Stadler, J. R. Tormo, O. Genilloud, A. W. Truman, K. J. Weissman, E. Takano, S. Sabatini, E. Stegmann, H. Brötz-Oesterhelt, W. Wohlleben, M. Seemann, M. Empting, A. K. H. Hirsch, B. Loretz, C.-M. Lehr, A. Titz, J. Herrmann, T. Jaeger, S. Alt, T. Hesterkamp, M. Winterhalter, A. Schiefer, K. Pfarr, A. Hoerauf, H. Graz, M. Graz, M. Lindvall, S. Ramurthy, A. Karlén, M. van Dongen, H. Petkovic, A. Keller, F. Peyrane, S. Donadio, L. Fraisse, L. J. V. Piddock, I. H. Gilbert, H. E. Moser, R. Müller, Towards the sustainable discovery and development of new antibiotics, Nature Reviews Chemistry 5 (10) (2021) 726–749. doi:10.1038/s41570-021-00313-1. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41570-021-00313-1

- [132] J. L. Espinoza, C. L. Dupont, A. O'Rourke, S. Beyhan, P. Morales, A. Spoering, K. J. Meyer, A. P. Chan, Y. Choi, W. C. Nierman, K. Lewis, K. E. Nelson, Predicting antimicrobial mechanism-of-action from transcriptomes: A generalizable explainable artificial intelligence approach, PLOS Computational Biology 17 (3) (2021) e1008857. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1008857. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1008857
- [133] B. Bhhatarai, W. P. Walters, C. E. C. A. Hop, G. Lanza, S. Ekins, Opportunities and challenges using artificial intelligence in ADME/Tox, Nature Materials 18 (5) (2019) 418-422. doi:10.1038/ s41563-019-0332-5. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41563-019-0332-5
- [134] Rodríguez-Gascón, Alicia and Solinís, María Ángeles and Isla, Arantxa, The Role of PK/PD Analysis in the Development and Evaluation of Antimicrobials, Pharmaceutics 13 (6) (2021) 833. doi:10.3390/ pharmaceutics13060833. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics13060833
- [135] K. Yang, K. Swanson, W. Jin, C. Coley, P. Eiden, H. Gao, A. Guzman-Perez, T. Hopper, B. Kelley, M. Mathea, A. Palmer, V. Settels, T. Jaakkola, K. Jensen, R. Barzilay, Analyzing learned molecular representations for property prediction, Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling 59 (8) (2019) 3370-3388. doi:10.1021/ acs.jcim.9b00237. URL https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jcim.9b00237
- [136] J. M. Stokes, K. Yang, K. Swanson, W. Jin, A. Cubillos-Ruiz, N. M. Donghia, C. R. MacNair, S. French, L. A. Carfrae, Z. Bloom-Ackermann, V. M. Tran, A. Chiappino-Pepe, A. H. Badran, I. W. Andrews, E. J. Chory, G. M. Church, E. D. Brown, T. S. Jaakkola, R. Barzilay, J. J. Collins, A deep learning approach to antibiotic discovery, Cell 180 (4) (2020) 688-702.e13. doi:10.1016/j.cell. 2020.01.021. URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.01.021
- [137] S. M. Corsello, J. A. Bittker, Z. Liu, J. Gould, P. McCarren, J. E. Hirschman, S. E. Johnston, A. Vrcic, B. Wong, M. Khan, J. Asiedu,

R. Narayan, C. C. Mader, A. Subramanian, T. R. Golub, The Drug Repurposing Hub: a next-generation drug library and information resource, Nature Medicine 23 (4) (2017) 405–408. doi:10.1038/nm. 4306.

URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nm.4306

- [138] G. König, P. Sokkar, N. Pryk, S. Heinrich, D. Möller, G. Cimicata, D. Matzov, P. Dietze, W. Thiel, A. Bashan, J. E. Bandow, J. Zuegg, A. Yonath, F. Schulz, E. Sanchez-Garcia, Rational prioritization strategy allows the design of macrolide derivatives that overcome antibiotic resistance, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 118 (46) (2021) e2113632118. doi:10.1073/pnas.2113632118. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2113632118
- [139] C. D. Doern, When Does 2 Plus 2 Equal 5? A Review of Antimicrobial Synergy Testing, Journal of Clinical Microbiology 52 (12) (2014) 4124– 4128. doi:10.1128/jcm.01121-14. URL https://doi.org/10.1128/jcm.01121-14
- [140] M. A. Fischbach, Combination therapies for combating antimicrobial resistance, Current Opinion in Microbiology 14 (5) (2011) 519-523. doi:10.1016/j.mib.2011.08.003. URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2011.08.003
- [141] R. Chait, A. Craney, R. Kishony, Antibiotic interactions that select against resistance, Nature 446 (7136) (2007) 668-671. doi:10.1038/ nature05685. URL https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05685
- [142] B. Anchang, K. L. Davis, H. G. Fienberg, B. D. Williamson, S. C. Bendall, L. G. Karacosta, R. Tibshirani, G. P. Nolan, S. K. Plevritis, DRUG-NEM: Optimizing drug combinations using singlecell perturbation response to account for intratumoral heterogeneity, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 115 (18) (2018) E4294–E4303. doi:10.1073/pnas.1711365115. URL https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1711365115
- [143] A. Malyutina, M. M. Majumder, W. Wang, A. Pessia, C. A. Heckman, J. Tang, Drug combination sensitivity scoring facilitates the discovery of synergistic and efficacious drug combinations in cancer,

PLOS Computational Biology 15 (5) (2019) e1006752. doi:10.1371/ journal.pcbi.1006752. URL https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1006752

- J. Niu, R. M. Straubinger, D. E. Mager, Pharmacodynamic drug-drug interactions, Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics 105 (6) (2019) 1395-1406. doi:10.1002/cpt.1434.
 URL https://doi.org/10.1002/cpt.1434
- M. R. Jacobs, How can we predict bacterial eradication?, International Journal of Infectious Diseases 7 (2003) S13-S20. doi:10.1016/ s1201-9712(03)90066-x. URL https://doi.org/10.1016/s1201-9712(03)90066-x
- [146] K. Z. Vardakas, G. D. Kalimeris, N. A. Triarides, M. E. Falagas, An update on adverse drug reactions related to β-lactam antibiotics, Expert Opinion on Drug Safety 17 (5) (2018) 499–508. doi:10.1080/ 14740338.2018.1462334. URL https://doi.org/10.1080/14740338.2018.1462334
- [147] A. J. Apter, H. Schelleman, A. Walker, K. Addya, T. Rebbeck, Clinical and genetic risk factors of self-reported penicillin allergy, Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology 122 (1) (2008) 152–158. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2008.03.037. URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2008.03.037
- [148] P. Jorge, M. Pérez-Pérez, G. P. Rodríguez, M. O. Pereira, A. Lourenço, A network perspective on antimicrobial peptide combination therapies: the potential of colistin, polymyxin B and nisin, International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents 49 (6) (2017) 668-676. doi:10.1016/j. ijantimicag.2017.02.012. URL https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2017.02.012
- M. Cokol, N. Kuru, E. Bicak, J. Larkins-Ford, B. B. Aldridge, Efficient measurement and factorization of high-order drug interactions in Mycobacterium tuberculosis, Science Advances 3 (10) (Oct. 2017). doi:10.1126/sciadv.1701881. URL https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1701881

- [150] N. Smith, J. Lenhard, K. Boissonneault, C. Landersdorfer, J. Bulitta, P. Holden, A. Forrest, R. Nation, J. Li, B. Tsuji, Using machine learning to optimize antibiotic combinations: dosing strategies for meropenem and polymyxin B against carbapenem-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii, Clinical Microbiology and Infection 26 (9) (2020) 1207–1213. doi:10.1016/j.cmi.2020.02.004. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2020.02.004
- [151] J. R. Lenhard, N. M. Smith, Z. P. Bulman, X. Tao, V. Thamlikitkul, B. S. Shin, R. L. Nation, J. Li, J. B. Bulitta, B. T. Tsuji, High-Dose Ampicillin-Sulbactam Combinations Combat Polymyxin-Resistant Acinetobacter baumannii in a Hollow-Fiber Infection Model, Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 61 (3) (Mar 2017). doi: 10.1128/aac.01268-16. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/AAC.01268-16
- [152] D. J. Mason, I. Stott, S. Ashenden, Z. B. Weinstein, I. Karakoc, S. Meral, N. Kuru, A. Bender, M. Cokol, Prediction of antibiotic interactions using descriptors derived from molecular structure, Journal of Medicinal Chemistry 60 (9) (2017) 3902-3912. doi:10.1021/acs. jmedchem.7b00204. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.7b00204
- [153] C. H. Chung, S. Chandrasekaran, A flux-based machine learning model to simulate the impact of pathogen metabolic heterogeneity on drug interactions, bioRxiv (Aug 2021). doi:10.1101/2021.08.03.454957. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1101/2021.08.03.454957
- [154] A. Bahar, D. Ren, Antimicrobial peptides, Pharmaceuticals 6 (12) (2013) 1543-1575. doi:10.3390/ph6121543.
 URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ph6121543
- [155] Q.-Y. Zhang, Z.-B. Yan, Y.-M. Meng, X.-Y. Hong, G. Shao, J.-J. Ma, X.-R. Cheng, J. Liu, J. Kang, C.-Y. Fu, Antimicrobial peptides: mechanism of action, activity and clinical potential, Military Medical Research 8 (1) (Sep. 2021). doi:10.1186/s40779-021-00343-2. URL https://doi.org/10.1186/s40779-021-00343-2
- [156] C. Wang, S. Garlick, M. Zloh, Deep learning for novel antimicrobial peptide design, Biomolecules 11 (3) (2021) 471. doi:10.3390/

biom11030471. URL https://doi.org/10.3390/biom11030471

[157] M. H. Cardoso, R. Q. Orozco, S. B. Rezende, G. Rodrigues, K. G. N. Oshiro, E. S. Cândido, O. L. Franco, Computer-aided design of antimicrobial peptides: Are we generating effective drug candidates?, Frontiers in Microbiology 10 (Jan 2020). doi:10.3389/fmicb.2019.03097.
UDL http://doi.org/10.2200/fa.ill.0010.02007

URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.03097

- [158] L. Albarano, R. Esposito, N. Ruocco, M. Costantini, Genome mining as new challenge in natural products discovery, Marine Drugs 18 (4) (2020) 199. doi:10.3390/md18040199. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/md18040199
- [159] K. Blin, S. Shaw, A. M. Kloosterman, Z. Charlop-Powers, G. P. van Wezel, M. Medema, T. Weber, antiSMASH 6.0: improving cluster detection and comparison capabilities, Nucleic Acids Research 49 (W1) (2021) W29-W35. doi:10.1093/nar/gkab335. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkab335
- [160] M. Pirtskhalava, A. A. Amstrong, M. Grigolava, M. Chubinidze, E. Alimbarashvili, B. Vishnepolsky, A. Gabrielian, A. Rosenthal, D. E. Hurt, M. Tartakovsky, DBAASP v3: database of antimicrobial/cytotoxic activity and structure of peptides as a resource for development of new therapeutics, Nucleic Acids Research 49 (D1) (2020) D288–D297. doi:10.1093/nar/gkaa991. URL https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkaa991
- [161] G. Hjörleifsson Eldjárn, A. Ramsay, J. J. J. van der Hooft, K. R. Duncan, S. Soldatou, J. Rousu, R. Daly, J. Wandy, S. Rogers, Ranking microbial metabolomic and genomic links in the NPLinker framework using complementary scoring functions, PLOS Computational Biology 17 (5) (2021) e1008920. doi:10.1371/journal.pcbi.1008920. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1008920
- [162] C. Li, D. Sutherland, S. A. Hammond, C. Yang, F. Taho, L. Bergman, S. Houston, R. L. Warren, T. Wong, L. M. N. Hoang, C. E. Cameron, C. C. Helbing, I. Birol, AMPlify: attentive deep learning model for discovery of novel antimicrobial peptides effective against WHO

priority pathogens, BMC Genomics 23 (1) (Jan 2022). doi:10.1186/ s12864-022-08310-4. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12864-022-08310-4

- [163] N. Kazemian, M. Ramezankhani, A. Sehgal, F. M. Khalid, A. H. Z. Kalkhoran, A. Narayan, G. K.-S. Wong, D. Kao, S. Pakpour, The trans-kingdom battle between donor and recipient gut microbiome influences fecal microbiota transplantation outcome, Scientific reports 10 (1) (2020) 1–10.
- [164] C. Lood, D. Boeckaerts, M. Stock, B. De Baets, R. Lavigne, V. van Noort, Y. Briers, Digital phagograms: predicting phage infectivity through a multilayer machine learning approach, Current Opinion in Virology 52 (2022) 174–181. doi:10.1016/j.coviro.2021.12.004. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.coviro.2021.12.004
- [165] M. Mirzaei, I. Furxhi, F. Murphy, M. Mullins, A machine learning tool to predict the antibacterial capacity of nanoparticles, Nanomaterials 11 (7) (2021) 1774. doi:10.3390/nano11071774. URL https://doi.org/10.3390/nano11071774
- [166] K. Diéguez-Santana, H. González-Díaz, Towards machine learning discovery of dual antibacterial drug-nanoparticle systems, Nanoscale 13 (42) (2021) 17854–17870. doi:10.1039/d1nr04178a. URL https://doi.org/10.1039/d1nr04178a
- [167] E. Montassier, R. Valdés-Mas, E. Batard, N. Zmora, M. Dori-Bachash, J. Suez, E. Elinav, Probiotics impact the antibiotic resistance gene reservoir along the human GI tract in a person-specific and antibioticdependent manner, Nature Microbiology 6 (8) (2021) 1043–1054. doi: 10.1038/s41564-021-00920-0. URL https://doi.org/10.1038/s41564-021-00920-0
- [168] D. A. Hughes, A. Bagust, A. Haycox, T. Walley, The impact of non-compliance on the cost-effectiveness of pharmaceuticals: a review of the literature, Health Economics 10 (7) (2001) 601-615. doi:10.1002/hec.609.

URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/hec.609

- [169] S. Faisal, J. Ivo, T. Patel, A review of features and characteristics of smart medication adherence products, Canadian Pharmacists Journal / Revue des Pharmaciens du Canada 154 (5) (2021) 312-323. doi: 10.1177/17151635211034198. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/17151635211034198
- [170] L. B. Sherwin, C. B. Deroche, J. Yevu-Johnson, M. Matteson-Kome, M. Bechtold, I. Jahnke, G. L. Alexander, Usability evaluation of a smartphone medication reminder application in patients treated with short-term antibiotic, CIN: Computers, Informatics, Nursing 39 (10) (2021) 547-553. doi:10.1097/cin.00000000000747. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1097/CIN.0000000000747
- [171] I. Rao, A. Shaham, A. Yavneh, D. Kahana, I. Ashlagi, M. L. Brandeau, D. Yamin, Predicting and improving patient-level antibiotic adherence, Health Care Management Science 23 (4) (2020) 507-519. doi:10.1007/s10729-020-09523-3. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10729-020-09523-3
- [172] K. Honeyford, G. S. Cooke, A. Kinderlerer, E. Williamson, M. Gilchrist, A. Holmes, B. Glampson, A. Mulla, C. Costelloe, Evaluating a digital sepsis alert in a London multisite hospital network: a natural experiment using electronic health record data, Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association 27 (2) (2019) 274–283. doi:10.1093/jamia/ocz186. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocz186
- [173] L. Bastarache, J. S. Brown, J. J. Cimino, D. A. Dorr, P. J. Embi, P. R. Payne, A. B. Wilcox, M. G. Weiner, Developing real-world evidence from real-world data: Transforming raw data into analytical datasets, Learning Health Systems 6 (1) (Oct 2021). doi:10.1002/lrh2.10293. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/lrh2.10293
- [174] S.-M. Nurmi, M. Kangasniemi, A. Halkoaho, A.-M. Pietilä, Privacy of clinical research subjects: An integrative literature review, Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics 14 (1) (2018) 33-48. doi:10.1177/1556264618805643. URL https://doi.org/10.1177/1556264618805643

- T. Minssen, N. Rajam, M. Bogers, Clinical trial data transparency and GDPR compliance: Implications for data sharing and open innovation, Science and Public Policy 47 (5) (2020) 616-626. doi:10.1093/ scipol/scaa014. URL https://doi.org/10.1093/scipol/scaa014
- [176] H. Seifert, J. Blondeau, M. J. Dowzicky, In vitro activity of tigecycline and comparators (2014-2016) among key who 'priority pathogens' and longitudinal assessment (2004-2016) of antimicrobial resistance: a report from the t.e.s.t. study, International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents 52 (4) (2018) 474-484. doi:10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2018. 07.003. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2018.07.003
- [177] M. J. Sheller, B. Edwards, G. A. Reina, J. Martin, S. Pati, A. Kotrotsou, M. Milchenko, W. Xu, D. Marcus, R. R. Colen, S. Bakas, Federated learning in medicine: facilitating multiinstitutional collaborations without sharing patient data, Scientific Reports 10 (1) (Jul 2020). doi:10.1038/s41598-020-69250-1. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69250-1
- [178] Z. Xiong, Z. Cheng, X. Lin, C. Xu, X. Liu, D. Wang, X. Luo, Y. Zhang, H. Jiang, N. Qiao, M. Zheng, Facing small and biased data dilemma in drug discovery with enhanced federated learning approaches, Science China Life Sciences 65 (3) (2021) 529–539. doi: 10.1007/s11427-021-1946-0. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11427-021-1946-0
- [179] M. A. T. Blaskovich, J. Zuegg, A. G. Elliott, M. A. Cooper, Helping chemists discover new antibiotics, ACS Infectious Diseases 1 (7) (2015) 285-287. doi:10.1021/acsinfecdis.5b00044. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/acsinfecdis.5b00044
- [180] D. Sleeman, L. Moss, A. Aiken, M. Hughes, J. Kinsella, M. Sim, Detecting and resolving inconsistencies between domain experts' different perspectives on (classification) tasks, Artificial intelligence in medicine 55 (2) (2012) 71–86.
- [181] B. Kowalska-Krochmal, R. Dudek-Wicher, The minimum inhibitory concentration of antibiotics: Methods, interpretation,

clinical relevance, Pathogens 10 (2) (2021) 165. doi: 10.3390/pathogens10020165. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/pathogens10020165

- [182] P. A. Devijver, J. Kittler, Pattern recognition: A statistical approach, Prentice Hall, 1982.
- [183] J. A. Lees, T. T. Mai, M. Galardini, N. E. Wheeler, S. T. Horsfield, J. Parkhill, J. Corander, Improved prediction of bacterial genotype-phenotype associations using interpretable pangenome-spanning regressions, mBio 11 (4) (Aug 2020). doi:10.1128/mbio.01344-20. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01344-20
- [184] J. Deng, W. Dong, R. Socher, L.-J. Li, K. Li, L. Fei-Fei, ImageNet: A Large-Scale Hierarchical Image Database, in: CVPR09, 2009, pp. 248–255.
- [185] A. Wang, A. Singh, J. Michael, F. Hill, O. Levy, S. R. Bowman, Glue: A multi-task benchmark and analysis platform for natural language understanding, arXiv preprint arXiv:1804.07461 (2018).
- [186] A. R. Raphenya, J. Robertson, C. Jamin, L. de Oliveira Martins, F. Maguire, A. G. McArthur, J. P. Hays, Datasets for benchmarking antimicrobial resistance genes in bacterial metagenomic and whole genome sequencing, Scientific Data 9 (1) (Jun 2022). doi:10.1038/ s41597-022-01463-7. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41597-022-01463-7
- [187] I. D. Raji, E. M. Bender, A. Paullada, E. Denton, A. Hanna, AI and the Everything in the Whole Wide World Benchmark, arXiv preprint arXiv:2111.15366 (2021).
- [188] J. Walker, E. Pan, D. Johnston, J. Adler-Milstein, D. W. Bates, B. Middleton, The value of health care information exchange and interoperability, Health Affairs 24 (Suppl1) (2005) W5-10-W5-18. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.w5.10. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.w5.10
- [189] A. Agarwal, K. Kapila, S. Kumar, Whonet software for the surveillance of antimicrobial susceptibility, Medical Journal Armed Forces India

65 (3) (2009) 264-266. doi:10.1016/s0377-1237(09)80020-8. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0377-1237(09)80020-8

- [190] D. Teodoro, E. Pasche, J. Gobeill, S. Emonet, P. Ruch, C. Lovis, Building a transnational biosurveillance network using semantic web technologies: Requirements, design, and preliminary evaluation, Journal of medical Internet research 14 (2012) e73. doi:10.2196/ jmir.2043.
- [191] E. J. Griffiths, R. E. Timme, C. I. Mendes, A. J. Page, N.-F. Alikhan, D. Fornika, F. Maguire, J. Campos, D. Park, I. B. Olawoye, P. E. Oluniyi, D. Anderson, A. Christoffels, A. G. da Silva, R. Cameron, D. Dooley, L. S. Katz, A. Black, I. Karsch-Mizrachi, T. Barrett, A. Johnston, T. R. Connor, S. M. Nicholls, A. A. Witney, G. H. Tyson, S. H. Tausch, A. R. Raphenya, B. Alcock, D. M. Aanensen, E. Hodcroft, W. W. L. Hsiao, A. T. R. Vasconcelos, D. R. MacCannell, Futureproofing and maximizing the utility of metadata: The pha4ge sarscov-2 contextual data specification package, GigaScience 11 (2022). doi:10.1093/gigascience/giac003. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/gigascience/giac003
- [192] R. Leinonen, H. Sugawara, M. Shumway, The sequence read archive, Nucleic Acids Research 39 (Database) (2010) D19-D21. doi:10.1093/ nar/gkq1019. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkq1019
- [193] L. K. McNeil, C. Reich, R. K. Aziz, D. Bartels, M. Cohoon, T. Disz, R. A. Edwards, S. Gerdes, K. Hwang, M. Kubal, G. R. Margaryan, F. Meyer, W. Mihalo, G. J. Olsen, R. Olson, A. Osterman, D. Paarmann, T. Paczian, B. Parrello, G. D. Pusch, D. A. Rodionov, X. Shi, O. Vassieva, V. Vonstein, O. Zagnitko, F. Xia, J. Zinner, R. Overbeek, R. Stevens, The National Microbial Pathogen Database Resource (NMPDR): a genomics platform based on subsystem annotation, Nucleic Acids Res. (2007) D347–D353.
- [194] B. B. Oude Munnink, N. Worp, D. F. Nieuwenhuijse, R. S. Sikkema, B. Haagmans, R. A. M. Fouchier, M. Koopmans, The next phase of SARS-CoV-2 surveillance: real-time molecular epidemiology, Nature Medicine 27 (9) (2021) 1518–1524. doi:10.

1038/s41591-021-01472-w. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41591-021-01472-w

- [195] J. D. Lutgring, M.-J. Machado, F. H. Benahmed, P. Conville, R. M. Shawar, J. Patel, A. C. Brown, Fda-cdc antimicrobial resistance isolate bank: a publicly available resource to support research, development, and regulatory requirements, Journal of Clinical Microbiology 56 (2) (Feb 2018). doi:10.1128/jcm.01415-17. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01415-17
- [196] D. Jaén-Luchoro, A. Busquets, R. Karlsson, F. Salvà-Serra, C. Åhrén, N. Karami, E. R. B. Moore, Genomic and proteomic characterization of the extended-spectrum β-lactamase (ESBL)producing escherichia coli strain ccug 73778: A virulent, nosocomial outbreak strain, Microorganisms 8 (6) (2020) 893. doi:10.3390/ microorganisms8060893.

URL http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8060893

- [197] R. S. JOHN-BROOKS, The national collection of type cultures, British Medical Bulletin 2 (12) (1944) 284-286. doi:10.1093/ oxfordjournals.bmb.a071064. URL http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.bmb.a071064
- [198] NIHR Global Health Research Unit on Genomic Surveillance of AMR, Whole-genome sequencing as part of national and international surveillance programmes for antimicrobial resistance: a roadmap, BMJ Global Health 5 (11) (2020) e002244. doi:10.1136/ bmjgh-2019-002244.
 URL https://doi.org/10.1126/bmjrh.2010.002244

URL https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2019-002244